# Advancing Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans

Funded by CIMVHR True Patriot Love Research Initiative

**FINAL REPORT** 

November 1, 2022

# **Prepared by:**

Maya Eichler, PhD (MSVU) Megan Poole, MA (independent researcher) Kimberley Smith-Evans, MA (MSVU) Leigh Spanner, PhD (MSVU)

#### With input from:

Kristi Adamo, PhD (University of Ottawa), Susan Bondy, PhD (University of Toronto), Lynne Gouliquer, PhD (Laurentian University), Tammy George, PhD (York University), Linda McLean, PhD (University of Ottawa), Carmen Poulin, PhD (University of New Brunswick), and Nancy Taber, PhD (Brock University)

#### **Suggested citation:**

Eichler, M., Poole, M., Smith-Evans, K., & Spanner, L. (2022). *Advancing Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans* (p. 106). Final report submitted to CIMVHR and True Patriot Love Foundation.

A French translation of this report is also available.

Une traduction française de ce rapport est également disponible.

Please contact us for more information.

E-mail: csi@msvu.ca

Mailing address:Centre for Social Innovation and<br/>Commuity Engagement in Military Affairs<br/>McCain Centre, Room 203A<br/>Mount Saint Vincent University<br/>166 Bedford Highway<br/>Halifax, NS B3M 2J6<br/>Canada

#### **Table of Contents**

List of Acronyms	3
Executive Summary	4
Introduction	6
Methodology	9
Search Strategy	
Findings: The State of Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans in Canada	13
Canadian Scoping Reviews	
Canadian Research Literature Historic Research, 1885 to 1989 Contemporary Research, 1990 to 2022	14
Canadian Grey Literature Military Women Veteran Women RCMP Women	20 20
Discussion: Contextualizing Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans	22
Situating our Findings International Context Canadian Context	22
A Nascent Field: Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans Characteristics of the Field Why the Field is What it is	27
Moving Forward: From Where We Are to Where We Need to Be	32
Current Context: Emerging Stakeholder Initiatives DND/CAF VAC Centres of Excellence	
Best Practices: Conceptual and Ethical Considerations	
Conceptual Considerations Ethical Considerations	35
Recommendations Recommendations for Government Recommendations for the Whole Research Community—Government and Beyond	
Limitations	43
Conclusion	44
References	46
Appendix A: Literature Search Strategy	66
Appendix B: Reference List of Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans	68
Appendix C: Reference List of International Reviews on Servicewomen and Women Veterans	86
Appendix D: Reference List of Adjacent Canadian Literature	94

# List of Acronyms

CAF	Canadian Armed Forces
CFHS	Canadian Forces Health Services
CIMVHR	Canadian Institute for Military and Veteran Health Research
CPCC	Chief Professional Conduct and Culture
DGMPRA	Director General Military Personnel Research and Analysis
DND	Department of National Defence (Canada)
DRDC	Defence Research and Development Canada
GBA Plus	Gender-Based Analysis Plus
LGBT	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender
2SLGBTQI+	Two-Spirit, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, Intersex, and others who identify as part of sexual and gender diverse communities
MST	Military Sexual Trauma
MSVU	Mount Saint Vincent University
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
RCMP	Royal Canadian Mounted Police
SAGER	Sex and Gender Equity in Research
TCPS 2	Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans
VA	Veterans Affairs (United States)
VAC	Veterans Affairs Canada

# **Executive Summary**

#### Purpose

This study provides an analysis of the state of Canadian servicewomen and women Veteran research. We identify key research gaps and propose a framework for future research on servicewomen and women Veterans in the Canadian context. This study aims to advance research on the experiences, needs, health, and well-being of military and Veteran women in Canada.

#### Methodology

We used a scoping review methodology as it provides a clear, organized approach to determine the breadth and nature of a body of research, identify gaps in existing literature, summarize and disseminate research findings, and guide recommendations for subsequent research. We included consultations—with an advisory team of researchers and governmental and non-governmental stakeholders—as a component of our methodology.

#### **Key Findings**

- We identified a total of 177 sources of Canadian literature that met our study's inclusion criteria. We also reviewed an additional body of research to contextualize our findings, including international scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews, and metaanalyses on servicewomen and women Veterans and Canadian literature that is related to the topic of servicewomen and women Veterans, but does not explicitly meet our inclusion criteria.
- 2) There are many knowledge gaps that need to be filled when it comes to understanding the experiences, needs, health, and well-being of servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada during and after service and across the life course.
- 3) The field of Canadian servicewomen and women Veteran research has been historically neglected and undervalued, but is currently experiencing an upswing. However, this new growth is unevenly developed and lacks strategic coordination and interdisciplinary and cross-sectoral collaboration.
- 4) The international research points to sex- and gender-specific military occupational hazards and life impacts on servicewomen and women Veterans that remain largely unexplored in the Canadian context.
- 5) It is paramount that these gaps in knowledge be filled to ensure sex- and gender-informed harm prevention and care for service-related injuries and illness, and their sequelae impacts over the lifespan of a woman (work, childbearing, menopause, aging, etc.).

#### Recommendations

- 1) Research gaps should be acknowledged, and dedicated government research funding set aside to address them.
- 2) Multiple types of research on servicewomen and women Veterans are needed: clinical medical, holistic health and social sciences, longitudinal research, mixed-methods research, and more.
- 3) Military and Veteran research on women needs to apply (and correctly use) sex, gender, and intersectional analysis, and be consistent with existing trauma-aware, military culture-aware, feminist-informed, and ethical research best practices.
- 4) It is crucial that researchers (and policymakers) do not conflate or make invisible women's experiences in attempts to address the needs of all minority military members and Veterans, for example, through the broad application of inclusion and diversity. There remains a need for separate women's sex- and gender-specific research (and policies, programming, services, and care). There is also a need for separate dedicated research on transgender women's experiences and needs.
- 5) There is an urgent need for strategic, coordinated, interdisciplinary, cross-departmental, and cross-sectoral collaboration to fill the gaps in existing research knowledge on servicewomen and women Veterans.
- 6) There is a need for training, mentoring, and networking of emerging scholars working on servicewomen and women Veteran research.
- 7) Government has an opportunity to leverage existing and newly emerging sources of government data to produce quick wins in the area of population and client-level studies on servicewomen and women Veterans, as well as to make publicly available and accessible all relevant data and research on servicewomen and women Veterans.

#### Conclusion

To date, individual researchers inside and outside of government have taken the initiative to begin addressing gaps in research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada, but individual researchers can only advance this research area in a limited way. This report recommends a collaborative, interdisciplinary, cross-sectoral, and cross-departmental approach to programmatically move forward this important research area of servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada.

# Introduction

There is a historic lack of Canadian research on women working in the Canadian Armed Forces (CAF) in general, and specifically research on the sex- and gender-specific occupational and operational impacts of military work for women during and after service. Despite Canadian women working side by side with men in all military occupations and trades for over thirty years now and in increasing numbers, research is still largely informed by the historic and still dominant assumption of the male military and Veteran norm.

The male norm, combined with sex- and gender-blindness, as well as the shift to "genderneutrality" in the 1990s, has reinforced the lack of research interest in servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada. Women as military members have either been assumed to be absent (hence, not requiring research) *or* the same as men (hence, not requiring separate sex- and genderspecific research). *Sex- and gender-blind* or *neutral* approaches are reflected in the common military phrase, 'A soldier is a soldier is a soldier', and post service by the common Veteran phrase "one Veteran, one standard" (Veterans Affairs Canada, 2019a).

Such a sex- and gender-blind approach is deeply problematic, as women and men's experiences differ both outside and within the military as a result of gender role expectations, gender stereotypes, and biological and physiological differences based on sex (Davis, 2020). A sex- and gender-blind approach to research, policy, programming, and services is not evidence-based and may inadvertently cause harm. Thus, a *sex- and gender-informed* lens must be adopted in all military and Veteran research in order to reflect the lived realities of servicewomen and women Veterans, and to remove existing historic biases that may cause harm and prevent equitable health and well-being outcomes (Eichler, 2021).

The need for a sex- and gender-informed lens in all military and Veteran research is reinforced by international guidelines such as the Sex and Gender Equity in Research (SAGER) guidelines (Heidari et al., 2016). The need for a sex- and gender-informed lens for military and Veteran research is further reinforced by the Government of Canada call for Gender-Based Analysis Plus (GBA Plus, inclusive of sex) to be part of all government funded research, policies, and programs. Furthermore, the CAF is a unique federal workplace in that it is also responsible for the health care provision of its members, which further highlights the need for sex- and genderinformed evidence-based research in support of equitable health care provision.

Despite calls for a sex- and gender-informed lens, sex and gender remain absent from the vast majority of military and Veteran research in Canada. For instance, a recent overview article about the "Depth and breadth of Canadian military, Veteran and family research" summarizes 10 years of research presented at CIMVHR forums but does not make sex, gender, women, or females visible in any way, whether in relation to topic areas, approaches, or researchers (Thompson et al., 2022). A typical explanation for why there is so little research on women or sex and gender differences in Canadian military and Veteran research is that "Males greatly outnumber females in military service" and "smaller samples of women limit[] abilities to draw conclusions" (Thompson et al., 2021, 938).

However, it is time we go beyond the excuse of small numbers and the claim of sex and gender blindness or neutrality, and instead recognize the need to build a robust knowledge base about the experiences, needs, health, and well-being of servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada (Park, 2021). With this project, we evaluate the state of servicewomen and women Veteran research in Canada and propose ways to move forward in addressing existing gaps and biases. The term 'women' is contested and needs to be clearly defined in research. In this study, we understand the category of 'women' to be inclusive of both cis and trans women. Our approach includes attention to gender as well as to sex-specific female health issues. While we recognize that sex-specific female health issues might also be experienced by transgender men, our study does not explicitly include transgender men. The focus of our study is on women broadly defined. That being said, the overwhelming majority of existing, especially historic, research does not explicitly state who is included in the category of women and we must therefore assume it is more often than not based on cisgender women. Overall, it needs to be underlined that terminology and its changing, different, and inconsistent use across the research literature present significant challenges when dealing with this topic area.

The term 'Veteran' is also contested. In Canada, former RCMP members are considered Veterans for the purposes of entitlement to services and benefits from VAC. In this study, we therefore include both CAF and RCMP women Veterans. We also include women serving in the RCMP, as there are likely overlapping needs and challenges faced by women in the RCMP and CAF that should be considered in research and policy. Overall, it should be pointed out that RCMP members and Veterans remain a blind spot in military and Veteran research and this is exacerbated when it comes to serving and Veteran *women*.

Our research was guided by the following questions:

- 1) What is the state of research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada?
- 2) What does research tell us about servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada? How has it addressed Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans' experiences, needs, health, and well-being?
- 3) What are the most significant research gaps in relation to knowledge about the experiences, needs, health, and well-being of servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada?
- 4) What conceptual and ethical considerations should inform future Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans?

This research study has three key objectives:

- To provide a *comprehensive description and analysis* of the current state of research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada. Using a scoping review methodology, our approach casts a wide net, including social and health sciences as well as medical research; peer-reviewed and grey literature; sex and gender (female-specific issues and women's issues, including transgender issues); military and RCMP Veterans; and service and post-service life research.
- 2) To identify the most *significant gaps in Canadian research* based on our comprehensive analysis of Canadian literature on servicewomen and women Veterans and through comparison with the international literature on servicewomen and women Veterans and in the context of adjacent and other Canadian research.

3) To develop *recommendations to advance research* on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada from our analysis of the literature, and in consultation with our advisory group of research collaborators and governmental and non-governmental stakeholders. Our recommendations include the "what" (the most significant gaps that need filling and the types of research needed) as well as the "how" (what conceptual and ethical considerations should guide future research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada).

This study was conducted by a multidisciplinary team, including a core research team and an advisory group. The bulk of the research was carried out by the core research team consisting of the principal investigator and three co-investigators, whose disciplinary expertise lies in military and Veteran studies, women and gender studies, political studies, family studies, psychology, and anthropology. All four main researchers had prior experience conducting scoping or literature reviews related to the topic of servicewomen and women Veterans. They all identify as (cis) women but lack first-hand lived experience of military service. The core research team was supported by an advisory group of collaborators with a diverse range of multidisciplinary and lived experience perspectives. Our advisory group includes social scientists and health scientists, former military members, and women from diverse backgrounds in terms of race, Indigeneity (Métis), language (English and French), gender identify, and sexual orientation.

# Methodology

To provide a comprehensive analysis of the state of military and Veteran women research in Canada, we take a multidisciplinary, holistic view to be inclusive of a wide range of issues that concern servicewomen and women Veterans across the domains of well-being (Government of Canada, 2019; Pound, 2019; Thompson et al., 2016). Our methodological approach is guided by GBA Plus (CIHR Institute for Gender and Health, 2012; Status of Women Canada, 2020) and SAGER guidelines (Heidari et al., 2016). Our research team recognizes the distinction between biological sex (male, female, and intersex) and gender (social and cultural norms and expectations on the basis of perceived sex, as well as individual masculine, feminine, non-binary, and gender-fluid identities and expressions). Distinguishing between, and paying attention to, *both* sex and gender enabled us to identify relevant medical and health research as well as relevant social sciences and humanities research on servicewomen and women Veterans. Sex and gender are both crucial factors influencing the experiences and outcomes of servicewomen and women Veterans that each need to be carefully considered in their own right, in their interplay, and in intersection with other factors (Eichler, Spanner et al., 2021).

We understand the category of 'women' to include all people who identify as women, including transgender women. Therefore, our approach includes attention to gender as well as to sex-specific female health issues, including those that might still be experienced by transgender men. However, we do not explicitly include transgender men in this study. An intersectional sex and gender lens allows for consideration of specific issues arising for subpopulations of military and Veteran women, for example, Indigenous, racialized, or 2SLGBTQIA+ women as well as consideration of how sex and gender interact with military rank, member-status (non-commissioned member versus officer), and relationship and parental status.

Following the framework of Arksey and O'Malley (2005) (see **Figure 1**), we applied a scoping review methodology (1. identifying the research question, 2. identifying relevant literature, 3. selecting literature, 4. charting the data, 5. collating, summarizing and reporting the results, and 6. consultation) to identify existing literature on the topic of servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada. Scoping reviews provide a clear, organized approach for determining the breadth and nature of a body of research, identifying gaps in existing literature, summarizing and disseminating research findings, and guiding subsequent research (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005; Pham et al., 2014).

We developed our analysis by first identifying and synthesizing the findings of Canadian scoping, systematic, and literature reviews on the topic of servicewomen and women Veterans (Eichler, 2017; Eichler & Smith-Evans, 2018; Eichler, Smith-Evans et al., 2021; Poole, 2021; Tam-Seto & Imre-Millei, 2022). Next, to temporally and thematically expand on existing reviews, we searched for historic and contemporary Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans; this enabled us to identify literature that was not captured in existing reviews, with a view toward encompassing the most comprehensive publications on the topic. In parallel, we completed a rapid review of international scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews, and meta-analyses about serving and/or Veteran women. We used the analysis of international reviews for comparison purposes only, to help us contextualize and identify the most significant gaps in the existing Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans.

#### Figure 1





Consultation is an optional, sixth stage of scoping reviews proposed by Arksey and O'Malley (2005), and its value has been subsequently discussed by other researchers who have undertaken and evaluated the methodology of scoping reviews (e.g., Brien et al., 2010; Daudt et al., 2013; Levac et al., 2010; O'Brien et al., 2016; Tricco et al., 2016). We engaged in ongoing consultation with our advisory group of collaborators over the course of the study, including meetings to discuss our search strategy, receive feedback on preliminary findings, and obtain relevant sources of academic and grey literature. We also consulted the wider community of relevant government and non-governmental stakeholders. Consultations involved the following stakeholders: Department of National Defence/Canadian Armed Forces (CFHS, CPCC, DGMPRA, and DRDC), Veterans Affairs Canada (Research Directorate), Office of the Veterans Ombud, Military Sexual Trauma Community of Practice, Women Veterans Research and Engagement Network, RCMP Veteran Women's Council, the Military Women's Health Research Interest Group, and individual women Veterans. Consultations were held to share information on our project, receive input, and help identify relevant grey literature as well as to elicit feedback on preliminary findings and recommendations. Preliminary findings were also shared at the annual CIMVHR Forum (October 2022). The final draft report received detailed feedback from our advisory group of collaborators as well as individual stakeholders in the Veterans lived experience community.

# Search Strategy

Our literature search strategy included three parts (see also Figure 2):

- 1) <u>Existing reviews</u>: Canadian and international scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews, and meta-analyses on servicewomen and women Veterans published in peer-reviewed journals (since 1885 for Canadian reviews and since 2010 for international reviews).
- 2) <u>Historic and contemporary research</u>: research on Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans between 1885 and 1989 (historic literature) and 1990 and 2022 (contemporary literature). We included research that focused on Canadian serving or Veteran women of the CAF or RCMP, mentions them in the title or abstract, and focuses on women's experiences per se or on a comparative analysis of sex and/or gender that highlights the unique outcomes or experiences of women.
- 3) <u>Consultation</u>: as described previously, we consulted with our advisory group of collaborators and a wider relevant community of stakeholders to identify grey literature and additional academic literature.

## Figure 2

Literature Search Strategy

Existing reviews	Historic and contemporary research	Consultation
•Canadian and international	•Canadian only	•Canadian only
<ul> <li>Scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews,</li> </ul>	•1885–1989 ("historic literature")	<ul> <li>Advisory group of collaborators</li> </ul>
meta-analyses	•1990–2022 ("contemporary literature")	•Wider community of relevant government and non-governmental stakeholders

Literature was identified for screening through electronic databases, hand searching of key sources, and consultation. We included sources for screening based on whether titles and abstracts indicated a focus on servicewomen or women Veterans specifically or applied a sex or gender lens to military and Veteran issues in Canada. We then applied our inclusion criteria to select sources for further analysis. If it was ambiguous as to whether the research spoke to women, a closer reading was conducted to determine inclusion. In some cases, a piece was included even though it did not mention servicewomen or women Veterans in the title/abstract, because it did include an analysis of women.

Our search and selection processes were iterative, evolving as we became more familiar with the research. We repeated some searches with new key words (e.g., peacekeepers, nursing sisters, military nurses) and an expanded time frame (going back to 1885 when women first joined the armed forces, which was not our initial intention). See **Appendix A** for more details on our literature search strategy, including search terms and inclusion/exclusion criteria.

The complete reference list of literature specifically about Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans (i.e., that met study inclusion criteria) can be found at the end of this report (see **Appendix B**).

While applying our selection criteria to the collected literature, we screened out a body of research that was not specifically *about* women or had not specifically applied a sex or gender lens but examined questions of relevance to the topic of servicewomen and women Veterans more broadly (e.g., sexual misconduct, military culture, health outcomes, etc.). Although these sources did not meet our inclusion criteria, we include them in our discussion of findings to provide context, and we append a list of them at the end of this report (see **Appendix D**). We chose this strict application of inclusion criteria in order to not overstate the extent of research directly focussed on Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans. Please note that not all the literature found through this scoping review is referenced in the report, but the complete lists of references can be found in **Appendices B, C, and D**.

# Findings: The State of Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans in Canada

In this section we present our findings on the state of research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada. A total of 177 sources met our study's inclusion criteria; the breakdown of numbers by type of research is shown in **Table 1** and the full list of 177 references is provided in **Appendix B**. Through our scoping review, we identified a variety of publications including scoping and literature reviews, books, book chapters, academic research articles, Master's and doctoral theses, and government grey literature such as reports. Our findings cover the time period from 1885, when women in Canada first began to serve in the armed forces, through the key historic turning point of 1989 when the Canadian military was ordered to integrate women into all occupations and trades, until September 2022. While our focus was on military members and Veterans, we did include RCMP servicewomen and women Veterans in our search as they likely experience similar issues and because the VAC mandate includes both CAF and RCMP Veterans.

### Table 1

Type of Research	Total Sources Included in Study
Canadian reviews	5
Historic research (1885–1989)*	20
Contemporary research (1990–2022)	117
French research	17
Grey literature	18

Total Number of Sources Included in Study (N = 177) by Type of Research.

\* Please note that only sources from 1975 to 1989 were identified for this time period.

# Canadian Scoping Reviews

We found five Canadian scoping reviews about servicewomen or women Veterans. Only two reviews focus specifically on women, and the findings of all five reviews point to a lack of Canadian research on serving or Veteran women. Three of the five reviews cover Canadian and international gender and military-to-civilian transition research (Eichler, 2017; Eichler & Smith-Evans, 2018; Eichler, Smith-Evans et al., 2021), one is dedicated to Canadian women Veteran research (Poole, 2021), and one focuses on mentorship programs for serving women (Tam-Seto & Imre-Millei, 2022).

Four of the five reviews cover both Canadian and international literature, with a focus on the Five Eyes (Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, and the United States). These include:

- The publications by Eichler (2017) and Eichler and Smith-Evans (2018) are based on the same scoping review. Their scoping review focuses on the literature on gender and veteran transition/reintegration research published from 1990 to 2015. Their review included only one Canadian source (Fetzner et al., 2013), which does not, however, fit the inclusion criteria of the present study.
- Eichler et al. (2021) focuses on gender and diversity (GBA Plus) research on military-tocivilian transition published from 2010 to 2020. Their scoping review identified 26 Canadian references (10 research and 16 government sources), but only four of them fit the inclusion criteria for the present study.
- Tam-Seto and Imre-Millei (2022) focus on mentorship for servicewomen. Their review identified only one piece of Canadian research which does fit the inclusion criteria for the present study.

The fifth review, by Poole (2021), is focused on Canada and has broad inclusion criteria aimed at capturing any research with findings about women or female CAF or RCMP members and/or Veterans. Although her review identified 84 Canadian references, only 10 articles meet the narrower inclusion criteria of our current scoping review.

Two of the five Canadian reviews focus specifically on female or women service members or Veterans, and those two reviews combined found only 11 articles that meet our inclusion criteria. The other three reviews focus on gender and diversity and two of those three focus specifically on military-to-civilian transition.

The low numbers of Canadian research found across these reviews indicate that there is a very limited number of publications from Canada that focus on serving or Veteran women. Building on these reviews, we thematically and temporally expanded on their search criteria to determine the state of Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans. Next, we present the Canadian literature that met our inclusion criteria, organized by research literature and grey literature.

# Canadian Research Literature

#### Historic Research, 1885 to 1989

Our search of Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans published between 1885 and 1989 identified only 20 pieces that fit our inclusion criteria, all on the military except for one which focused on the RCMP. Even though we searched databases from 1885 to 1989, the research we found clusters around 1975 to 1989, with five pieces published in the 1970s and 15 pieces published in the 1980s. None of the research we found for this period was published in French.

The little research that exists centres on three topic areas: 1) Canadian women's participation in war, especially the Second World War; 2) Canadian women's deepening integration into the military over time, with a focus on their integration into combat and combat support roles; and 3) one lone article on women's experience in the RCMP.

Research on Canadian women serving in the Second World War owes much to the pioneering work of feminist historian Ruth Roach Pierson (1976, 1978, 1979, 1981, 1982, 1983 1986a,

1986b, 1988), which highlights women's wartime contributions alongside the marginalization and objectification they experienced *as women* in the armed forces. Her work stands out in applying gender as an analytical lens compared to other historical research on women's service in the world wars that tends to be more descriptive (see, for example, Gerald W. L. Nicholson's 1975 book, *Canada's Nursing Sisters*).

The second cluster of research published during this period centres on women's experiences in Canada's post-war military (Simpson, 1982), and the move towards their deepening integration into the military (Odorico, 1983; Scheuer, 1989). Here the work of military nurse LCol (Retired) Shirley Robinson stands out. Robinson famously authored the piece, "Women in Combat: The Last Bastion," in the journal *Canadian Women Studies* in 1985, as well as a 1988 piece entitled, "The Right to Serve: Women and the 'Combat Issue'". Robinson's writing is informed by her experiences as a military woman and advocate for women's integration into all military roles and Canadian women's right to equally serve in the military—including their right to fight in combat.

Finally, there is one piece we identified for this time period that examines "Attrition among Male and Female Members of the RCMP" (Linden, 1985). This piece is based on a survey study that oversamples female participants (serving and retired RCMP) to explore their job satisfaction and reasons for leaving. Unusual for its time, Rick Linden explicitly highlights that only women reported "discrimination or harassment and difficulty in arranging shifts compatible with those of a spouse", drawing attention to the intersections of gender with discrimination and relationship status (Linden, 1985, abstract).

It is worth noting that four of the 20 identified pieces of research about Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans for this period of 1885 to 1989 are based on student research: one doctoral dissertation by Simpson (1982) on the influence of supervisors' attitudes on the performance evaluation of women in the CAF, and three Master's theses on the experiences of Alberta women in the Second World War (Zwicker, 1985), on the experiences of women officers (Karmas, 1984), and on women's experiences in the SWINTER trials (Odorico, 1983). The fact that a fifth of the sources found for this period are authored by students as part of their degree completion requirements and nine pieces are written by one author (Pierson) indicates that the field of research on servicewomen and women Veterans is highly unevenly developed during this period. But as noted previously, we see an uptick in research in the 1980s as a reflection of growing advocacy for women's equal right to serve in combat.

No research was found that explicitly addresses the experiences of transgender women or explicitly includes them, and we must therefore assume that this research speaks only to the experiences of cisgender women.

#### Contemporary Research, 1990 to 2022

For the period of 1990 to 2022, our search identified 112 English-language references related to Canadian military members and Veterans and five references related to the RCMP women. Topics include a much wider range than in the preceding century. French-language research included 17 additional references which are discussed separately below.

#### Military women

Research on military women clusters around three topic areas: 1) women's integration and lived experience in the military; 2) women's participation in war; and 3) women's health.

Women's deepening integration into the military continues to be a key topic of interest, though with a shift in emphasis from challenging legal restrictions to exploring sociological barriers to women's full and meaningful integration. Research examines women's inclusion into combat roles (Symons, 1990), into regiments, such as the Royal Newfoundland Regiment (Kitchen, 2004), and into particular elements such as the Air Force (Power, 1998). There is much focus on women's leadership, especially in two edited volumes published by the Canadian Defence Academy Press (Belanger & Davis, 2010 and Davis, 2007). Karen Davis' (2007) edited volume Women and Leadership in the Canadian Forces: Perspectives & experience includes ten chapters by researchers and individuals with lived experience. The volume uses perspectives of women leaders in the military to illuminate the unique experiences of women and draws lessons about how leadership can support women's growing integration. The edited volume Transforming Traditions: Women, leadership and the Canadian Navv, 1942–2010 was published in recognition of the Navy's centennial and examines the perspectives and experiences of women in the navy in 20 chapters, again through both lived experience narratives and academic research (Belanger & Davis, 2010). Donna Winslow and Jason Dunn's (2002) piece on "Women in the Canadian Forces: Between legal and social integration" is a key text that insightfully lays out the limitations of women's social integration into the CAF despite the removal of legal barriers.

The attrition of women from the military (Davis, 1994, 1997) drew particular attention during the 1990s, while recruitment and retention are key subjects of research interest today (MacKenzie & Gunaydin, 2022; von Hlatky & Imre-Millei, 2022; Waruszynski et al., 2019, 2022). Sexual harassment and sexual assault experienced by women in the military are also key topics of research focus (Gill & Febbraro, 2013; Hajizadeh et al., 2019; Kovitz, 2000). More recently, women's mentorship in the CAF has emerged as a theme in Canadian research on military women (Tam-Seto, 2021, 2022; Tam-Seto & English, 2019; Tam Seto & Imre-Millei, 2022).

In the contemporary period, women's lived experience in the military across intersectional lines is beginning to receive more attention. This includes research on servicewomen as mothers (Taber, 2005; Yeboah-Ampadu, 2017), single parents (Skomorovsky et al., 2019), and racialized women (George, 2020). The experiences of lesbians in the military have been documented through the important work of Lynne Gouliquer and Carmen Poulin (Gouliquer, 2000; Gouliquer et al., 2018; Poulin et al., 2009; Poulin et al., 2018).

Servicewomen's participation in war continues to be an important theme. There is a significant cluster of research on Canadian nursing sisters in the First World War (n=23), examining their experiences during deployments, impacts on their health, and how the war shaped the nursing profession. Nearly half of the references on nursing sisters are authored by just two scholars (Quiney, 1998a, 1998b, 2002, 2018 and Toman, 2003, 2005, 2007, 2008, 2015, 2016; see also Quiney & Landells, 1999). Furthermore, there is research on women's participation in the Second World War that highlights the experiences of subpopulations of women such as Jewish women (Lipton, 2017) and Indigenous women (Poulin, 2007), as well as women in the Women's Royal Canadian Naval Service (Redstone-Lewis, 2007). Analyses of media coverage on women in combat, with a focus on the war in Afghanistan, highlight the tensions in how women in war are portrayed as both equal with and different from men (Chapman & Eichler, 2014; Davis,

2011; Sjolander & Trevenen, 2010). The topic of military women in peacekeeping has begun to receive interest among emerging scholars (Biskupski-Mujanovic, 2019; Hassan, 2017).

Over the last decade, health-related research on servicewomen or with a sex or gender lens has emerged as a topic in the Canadian literature. This includes research on the health of CAF members with a sex lens (Hall et al., 2022; Mota et al., 2012; Mota et al., 2013; St Cyr et al., 2021; Tingelstad et al., 2018) and a gender lens (Oakley et al., 2020; Sudom et al., 2021). In this cluster of research, we also find a sex-based analysis of reasons for medical release (Serré, 2019). In 2020, we find the first Canadian article fully dedicated to military women's health, which examines cervical cancer screening for CAF women (Naiker & Hawes, 2020). The only other Canadian article fully dedicated to military women's health appears in 2022 and is focused on the association between reproductive health factors and musculoskeletal injuries in female CAF members (Puranda et al. 2022).

### Women Military Veterans

Compared to research on serving military women, much less research exists on women Veterans (women who have released or retired from the military or left wartime service). There is only one piece that explores benefits for women Veterans after the Second World War (Neary & Brown, 1995). Research has also emerged examining contemporary Canadian women Veterans' experiences during and after service (Eichler, 2022), including access to Veteran services (Shoemaker & von Hlatky, 2018; Tam-Seto & Dussault, 2022). There is also research on sexbased differences in post-service adjustment to civilian life (Hachey et al., 2016) and the sexand gender-based differences in access to health care for Canadian Veterans (MacLean et al., 2021).

#### RCMP Women

Our scoping review identified only five sources on women in the RCMP for this period, one of which is a Master's thesis published in 1990 (Comeau, 1990). All other sources on women in the RCMP are authored by Bonnie Reilly Schmidt, a research pioneer on this topic. Schmidt's research (based on her PhD dissertation) provides a detailed examination of women's fight for equality in the RCMP, including both internal and external perceptions of their role (Schmidt, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015).

## Analytical Summary of Contemporary English Research

We found 15 publications for the 1990s, 28 for the 2000s, and 45 for the 2010s, with 12 sources being from 2019 alone. Thus, beginning in 2019, there is a sharp rise in publications related to servicewomen and women Veterans. From 2020 to 2022, we identified 29 references that met our inclusion criteria, showing that the research area has reached a level of ongoing development with an average of just under 10 publications being added per year.

Most Canadian research in our area of interest examines women in the military. Significantly less research has been dedicated to CAF women Veterans and women RCMP members, and nothing captured during this period focuses explicitly on RCMP *Veteran* women. Research tends to focus on *either* serving women *or* women Veterans. We found only one piece for this period that includes both CAF servicewomen and women Veterans, with an overall focus on gender differences in

clinical presentation for Operational Stress Injuries among military personnel and Veterans (Oakley et al., 2020).

We see more of an intersectional lens emerging during this most recent period compared to the preceding decades and century. Research is beginning to look at the intersections of women's experiences with their ethnic or racial background, parental status, relationship status, sexuality, rank, element, and more, but many aspects of intersectionality are still missing from research on servicewomen and women Veterans.

We see new topics emerge such as sexual harassment in the military and women's attrition from the military that were not discussed in much detail earlier (though Linden's work did for the RCMP in 1985). A key new area of interest that emerges during this period is health. Only two references were dedicated to women's health, but several other pieces examine the health of CAF members and Veterans through a sex or gender lens.

Often one or two people dominate an area of research, such as Karen Davis on women's military integration or Lynne Gouliquer and Carmen Poulin on lesbian military women. While their dedication to research on servicewomen has greatly contributed to our knowledge base, it also indicates that the field is still underdeveloped and may not be sparking a wide interest among scholars.

Of the 112 references on the military and Veterans, 8 are doctoral dissertations and 15 are Master's theses. Of the five RCMP-related references, one is a doctoral dissertation and one a Master's thesis. That a fifth of the relevant literature is written by students, reflects that this is a research area that continues to be taken on primarily by junior scholars and much less so by senior military and Veteran researchers.

Remarkably, there is no contemporary research that we could identify for RCMP women since 2015, or on RCMP women Veterans specifically, which indicates a significant blind spot in the research. This is an important gap that cannot simply be filled by research on serving or Veteran CAF women. While there is some overlap in experiences and needs between CAF and RCMP women, there are likely also distinct experiences. Women RCMP members and Veterans therefore deserve research attention in their own right.

While some of the more recent research mentions transgender women in passing, for example as part of the 2SLGBTQI+ umbrella term, there is still no research dedicated to their experiences and most research does not explicitly state whether or not it includes transgender women. We must therefore assume that the reviewed research is overwhelmingly based on the experiences of cisgender women.

#### French-Language Research

We conducted a separate search for French-language research. Research conducted in and reported on in French represents a small portion of the research on military and Veteran women. Only 17 publications were identified, including journal articles, books, and books chapters. All are published after 1990 and thus are discussed here as part of the contemporary Canadian research.

Thematically, most of the recent Canadian pieces (n=10) which are available in French are concerned with women's integration into the CAF and the barriers to equitable employment they experience. These include, for example, research on the impact of women's inclusion on

operational readiness in the context of peace and security (Waruszynski et al., 2019) and on how the valuing of masculinity impacts the attrition of CAF members, especially of women (Désilets, 2021). Otherwise, this group of research is concerned with women's military contributions through nursing, especially during large conflicts, such as the First World War (n=7).

Some Canadian research on military and Veteran women (n=5) is published in bilingual sources and is thus available in both English and French, but most often represents a French translation of research originally conducted in English. Many of these pieces are found in the *Canadian Military Journal/Revue Militaire Canadienne*, which is a bilingual journal run by the Department of National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces.

Close to half of the French-language references (n=6) are student theses, pointing to the uneven development of this research area. As we noted above in relation to the English-language research literature, this kind of uneven distribution of research on servicewomen and women Veterans indicates that while there is interest in the topic among junior scholars it is a topic that is undervalued by more senior scholars.

We could not identify how many of these 17 pieces had been conducted in French or completed with Francophone populations. That 5 of the 17 pieces were available in English and French suggests a significant portion of the research published in French may not necessarily be conducted in French. It is often not explicitly identified whether a piece of research was conducted in French or with French populations, which is a problem in and of itself. It is important for researchers to be clear about the language they are using in their research, and the language of the populations which they are investigating.

Overall, there is very little research on military and Veteran women in Canada conducted in and/or reported on in French. Importantly, very little research is being done on Francophone subcommunities among servicewomen and Veteran women in Canada. Indeed, this distinction is an important one: research being conducted and published in the French language cannot be assumed to be conducted on Francophone women. Moreover, it is important to consider Francophone women both within and outside of Quebec, such as in Acadia, Manitoba, and parts of Northern Ontario. Again, this research appears to not include the experiences of transgender women.

# Canadian Grey Literature

We identified 18 sources of Canadian grey literature through our searches. DND/CAF and VAC play a key role in military and Veteran research in Canada. For the purposes of this study, we have focused on grey literature such as research-based reports and other materials (e.g., scientific letters) produced or contracted by DND/CAF and VAC as well as other government departments, agencies, and fora such as Parliament.

In this scoping review, we chose not to include historic grey literature because it was not practical to seek access to historic reports, many of which are not organized or stored in a way that they can be readily shared with external researchers. For a partial list of historic grey literature related to internal DND/CAF research on women in the military, we refer readers to the extensive reference list in Davis' doctoral dissertation (Davis, 2013) which includes many DND/CAF relevant government sources on military women.

Some research produced by government departments and published in peer-reviewed journals walks the line between grey literature and academic research. We have chosen to include such work in our analysis of peer-reviewed literature above. Thus, we do not include grey literature that was also published in peer-reviewed journals in an almost identical fashion as part of our review of the grey literature.

This research is not always clear on how it defines women, with the exception of sex-based research which deals with cisgender women.

## Military Women

DND/CAF shared a large number of potentially relevant grey literatures with us; however, most did not fit our inclusion criteria. They did not deal directly with servicewomen and instead focused on adjacent areas of interest such as sexual misconduct. Sexual misconduct is a topic which overlaps with many women's issues. However, while it is a gendered issue it is not itself *about women* (though it is often problematically conflated with women).

Only 12 DND/CAF authored or contracted reports we found fell within our inclusion criteria. They cover two main research areas:

- Women's integration and lived experience, including in the combat arms (Febbraro, 2003); their attraction, recruitment, and retention, in the primary reserve and the regular force (Earnscliff Strategy Group, 2017; Waruszynski et al., 2018; Waruszynski et al., 2021a, 2021b); the identification of barriers to women's participation in the military (Guerin & Howe, 2021) and on peacekeeping deployments (Phoenix Strategic Perspectives Inc., 2022); and a gender-focused workforce analysis of Naval Technical Officers' human resources data (Vincent, 2021).
- Military women's health, including the role of gender and sex in military personnel health (Sudom, 2009) and sex disparities in musculoskeletal injuries in military members (Adamo & Semeniuk, 2021a; Adamo & Semeniuk, 2021b; Adamo & Semeniuk, 2022).

In addition to DND/CAF-produced or contracted grey literature, our review captured two more reports on Canadian servicewomen: the 2019 House of Commons Standing Committee on the Status of Women Report, "A Force for Change: Creating a Culture of Equality for Women in the Canadian Armed Forces," and a 2017 report from the Privy Council Office, "Behavioural Insights Project: Increasing Recruitment of Women into the Canadian Armed Forces."

## Veteran Women

Over the past few years, the VAC Research Directorate has begun to apply a sex- and genderlens to some of its research, though there is still minimal (internal and contracted) VAC research that exists on women Veterans. This research includes:

- One piece that provides a sex-disaggregated profile of Veterans in Canada released since 1998 (MacLean et al., 2018).
- One report contracted by the VAC Research Directorate on Canadian women Veterans' experiences of military-to-civilian transition (Eichler et al., 2022).

There is one relevant report from the Office of the Veterans Ombud entitled, "The Adjudication of Sexual Dysfunction Claims Consequential to an Entitled Psychiatric Condition." This report documents sex-based biases in the tools and guidelines used by VAC to make decisions on disability benefit claims for sexual dysfunctions caused by medications used to treat mental health conditions. It finds that female VAC clients are disadvantaged in the decision-making process compared to male VAC clients (Poole & Siew, 2022).

#### RCMP Women

The only grey literature directly on RCMP women identified in our scoping review is the Bastarache Report (2017), which focuses on the effects of sexual harassment on RCMP women. This report was produced as part of the implementation of the Merlo Davidson Settlement Agreement. It examines women and their experiences of sexual harassment through the lens of the RCMP's toxic culture.

# Discussion: Contextualizing Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans

This section provides a higher-level analysis of what we have found by summarizing key trends in the research area of Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans and identifying the most significant gaps. To situate the historic and contemporary literature discussed above, we briefly outline some of the existing international literatures on servicewomen and women Veterans as well as adjacent and other Canadian literatures.

# Situating our Findings

#### International Context

To provide context for the five Canadian scoping reviews we found, we also completed a rapid review of international scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews, and metaanalyses that focus on military and Veteran women. A full list of these international references can be found at the end of this report (see **Appendix C**). We used a stricter inclusion criterion for international reviews compared to Canadian reviews. We only included international reviews that had servicewomen and women Veterans as their main focus, whereas we included any Canadian reviews that had information on servicewomen and/or women Veterans even if the primary focus of the review was broader (e.g., on GBA Plus).

We identified 59 international reviews—all from the United States—covering a much broader range of topics specifically about servicewomen and women Veterans and offering more depth of research on individual topics than the five Canadian reviews. This indicates a much more developed state of research on servicewomen and women Veterans in the United States compared to Canada. A few highlights are:

- 26 of the international reviews focus on serving women, 29 focus on women Veterans, and 4 include both Veteran and serving women in the same study. *Similar to Canada, reviews covering both servicewomen and Veteran women or examining servicewomen/women Veterans over their life span are an exception.*
- Overarching themes in the international literature are: physical and/or mental health, pregnancy and reproductive health, health care and administration of benefits, physical injuries, sexual trauma, sleep health and disorders, and gender integration into the military (see **Table 2** for a detailed list of themes). Unlike Canada, many more themes are explored, and health and well-being research on servicewomen and women Veterans is much more developed in breadth and depth.
- Most international reviews we identified cover research completed on and in the American context and focus mainly on aspects of physical and mental health (*n*=15). Reproductive and sexual health emerge as a particular area of interest (*n*=12 in addition to the above 15). This is partly due to a special issue of the journal *Women's Health Issues* (Volume 31, Supplement 1) which focuses on military women's health. This 2017 special issue contains eight articles about military women in the United States, five of which focus on reproductive health and all of which are included in our analysis of international reviews on serving women. *Compared to the international literature, the*

themes of physical and mental health and reproductive and sexual health of military and Veteran women is extremely underdeveloped in Canada.

- Reviews on serving and Veteran women's mental health, well-being, and physical health often address the topic(s) of health, well-being, and mental health very broadly while research on sexual and reproductive health, along with most other topics, are investigated in a patchwork fashion, focusing on specific elements rather than the overall picture. *These research themes are not well enough developed in the Canadian reviews and research literature to make a comparative assessment.*
- Compared to the international reviews, there is a general lack of reviews on Canadian serving and Veteran women. The landscape of scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews, and meta-analyses involving these populations is relatively new in Canada (with the first review published in 2017) and covers a narrower range of topics (e.g., a focus on military-to-civilian transition or mentoring). Three of the five Canadian reviews focus on gender broadly and not specifically on women or female service members/Veterans.
- There is lack of original Canadian research to be reviewed. The vast majority of themes from the international (i.e., United States) literature have not yet begun to be explored in the Canadian context, pointing to significant gaps in our knowledge of the specific experiences of Canadian servicewomen and Veteran women. Those looking for answers in the Canadian context must currently look to the international landscape for research on servicewomen and women Veterans.
- Much of the research covered in the United States reviews is produced by researchers affiliated with the VA and the Department of Defence. In addition, the United States has forums such as the Military Women's Health Research Interest Group organized by the TriService Nursing Research Program with the goal to "expand the foundation of knowledge upon which can be built expert practices in the preventive, acute, and chronic health care of servicewomen and evidenced-based policies and programs" (*Military Women's Health RIG*, 2022). Even the United Kingdom, which also lags behind the United States in this research field of servicewomen and women Veterans, now has a third-sector (non-governmental) research centre dedicated to servicewomen, the Centre for Military Women's Research, that was launched in 2021 (*Centre for Military Women's Research*, 2022).

#### Table 2

#### Themes Identified in International Reviews About Serving and/or Veteran Women

#### **Physical Health**

- Physical injuries
  - o Amputees
    - o Brain injuries
- Cancer
- Clinical complexity and comorbidities
  - o Multisystem illnesses
  - o Chronic diseases
  - o Pain and pain conditions
- Palliative and hospice care

#### **Reproductive and Sexual Health**

- Impact of service on sexual and reproductive health
- Sexual function/dysfunction
  - o MST and sexual function/dysfunction
- Sexual behaviours
- Fertility/Infertility
- Contraceptive use
- Menstruation
  - o Menstrual suppression
- Pregnancy
  - o Unplanned pregnancy
  - o Abortion
  - o Perinatal health and outcomes
  - o C-Sections
- Post-pregnancy health and well-being
  - o Mental health
  - o Return to work
  - o Breastfeeding
- Menopause
- Cervical cancer
- Sexually Transmitted Infections
- Gynecological care
- Bladder conditions/pelvic floor issues

#### Mental Health

- Specific Disorders
  - Eating disorders
  - o Adjustment disorder
  - o Personality disorders
  - o Schizophrenia
  - Substance-use disorders
  - Non-PTSD anxiety disorders
- Co-existing mental health conditions
- Military Sexual Trauma
- Moral injury
- Mood regulation

(Mental Health continued top of next column)

- Stress
  - Suicide
  - Adverse childhood experiences
- Risks and protective factors
- Therapies and interventions

#### Healthcare and Administration of Benefits

- Access to care
  - o Barriers to care
- Quality of Care
- Health care utilization patterns
  - o For Veterans who are VAC clients and those who are not
- Impacts of service-related disabilities on Veterans
- Healthcare/treatment outcomes

#### **Intersectional Considerations**

- Visible minorities
- o Indigeneity
- Aging/life-span research
- Spirituality or Religion
- Sexual and Gender Minorities:
  - Experiences of both trans and cis LGBTQ members
  - o MST and sexual minorities
  - o Protective factors of service for LGBTQ service members
  - o Physical health of sexual and gender minorities with large sample sizes

#### Community

- Social support
- Family and other important relationships

#### **Other Concerns**

- Sleep health and disorders
- Interpersonal violence (women as victims and perpetrators of)
- Veterans and the criminal justice system
- Housing insecurity
- Recruitment and retention
- Resilience and agency
- Clinical research
- Disabilities
- Alternative treatments
- Comorbid conditions
- Occupational health and safety

#### Implications

In contrast to the United States, in Canada DND/CAF and VAC do not take a leadership role on servicewomen and women Veteran research nor do they make data readily available or accessible to external researchers. VAC has access to information about clients with servicerelated injuries and treatment-seeking Veterans that cannot be replicated by external researchers. Although this information may not be intended to be used for research, it is a lost opportunity not to leverage VAC client data to better understand the strengths, needs, and context of treatmentseeking women and female Veterans. In a report out of the Office of the Veterans Ombud, Poole and Siew (2022) found that VAC data may not currently be used to its full potential, which therefore limits what we know about treatment-seeking Veterans in Canada. VAC organizes data on their clients using medical pension codes, "which are designed to determine treatment benefits rather than provide information for statistical analysis" (Poole & Siew, 2022, p. 15). VAC was unable to provide information on the gender of clients, certain types of claims, and other important information. The authors state, "We are concerned that, in general, these data issues are not limited to specific program areas but are endemic across programs" (Poole & Siew, 2022, p. 17). In contrast, the United States VA is set up as a research institution and is prolific in its research on servicewomen and women Veterans. They effectively leverage their data, which could be emulated in the Canadian context. Similarly, CAF has access to information about serving women that cannot be replicated by external research, and that is not readily accessible to researchers external to government or in government but external to DND/CAF (Arbour, 2022, pp. 58-59). There are limitations within government to use information for its intended purpose only and not outside of that, so it may require legislative or regulatory changes to make government data more available for research in Canada.

#### Canadian Context

#### Adjacent Research

While reviewing the historic and contemporary research on Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans, we came across a large body of "adjacent" research (n=96) that is broadly relevant to the topic but not specifically *about women* or specifically applying a sex or gender lens. These 96 references (56 of which fell into the grey literature category) did not meet our inclusion criteria but are noteworthy for the context they bring to the research about Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans. A full list of these references can be found at the end of the report (see **Appendix D**). There are two categories of adjacent literature relevant to Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans:

1) Research that is not focused on military women themselves but on the culture, equity, diversity, and inclusion challenges confronting male-normative and male-dominated institutions such as the CAF, VAC, and RCMP. The relevant literature includes reports on CAF such as the Deschamps Report (2015), the Arbour Report (2022), and the Minister of National Defence Advisory Panel on Systemic Racism and Discrimination Report (2022). For the RCMP, this includes reports such as the Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defence (2013) report titled, *Conduct Becoming: Why the Royal Canadian Mounted Police must transform its culture*. These reports provide broader context and examine the culture in which CAF

and RCMP servicewomen must operate. Auditor General reports on recruitment and retention and on inappropriate sexual behaviour in the CAF (Office of the Auditor General, 2016, 2018) also fall into this category of adjacent literature as does one recent DND/CAF Ombudsman (2022) report on employment equity.

2) Research and grey literature that do not seek to study sex/gender differences, but coincidentally report on them. This includes, for example, research that mentions sex differences in military members' transition and health outcomes (McCuaig Edge et al., 2022), Veterans' health care access and use (McLean et al., 2021), and Veteran suicide rates (Simkus & VanTil, 2018; Simkus et al., 2019; Simkus et al., 2017). These articles mention female Veterans, but the analysis is not focused on them, and gender is not employed as an analytical category. This type of research is a step in the right direction, helping to fill gaps in knowledge about women, but still misses the mark by not integrating a sex and gender lens into the research design.

While the above adjacent research literatures provide important context for our research question, it is important that they not be equated with research dedicated to servicewomen and women Veterans.

## Other Canadian Research

We also considered how existing servicewomen and women Veteran research connects to other forms of research, specifically Canadian women's health research and Canadian research on women in non-traditional occupations. In reviewing recent scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews, and meta-analyses on Canadian women's health, we found that none of them include information on military or Veteran women, highlighting the disconnect between military-related and civilian-related research on women's health in Canada (e.g., King & Busolo, 2022; McLaughlin et al., 2022; Paynter et al., 2022). In reviewing recent Canadian literature on women in non-traditional occupations, we similarly found that while there were overlapping themes, researchers rarely collaborate or reference each other's work across military and civilian lines (with the exception of Gouliquer et al., 2020).

The lack of connection we found between Canadian women's health research and Canadian research on women in non-traditional occupations, on the one hand, and Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans, on the other hand, represents an untapped opportunity for interdisciplinary collaboration and sharing of best practices. It highlights the need for leadership on cross-sectoral collaborative research across military and civilian spheres. One key gap is the need for more research comparing servicewomen and women Veterans to women in the Canadian general population. While doing such comparisons is important, there are also important caveats to keep in mind. Military and civilian women are not necessarily comparable groups. On average, Adverse Childhood Experiences scores are higher among military members and are highly interrelated with health outcomes (McCauley et al., 2015). Furthermore, medical standards required to enter the military lead to the exclusion of people with a number of healthimpacting conditions common in the Canadian general population. Therefore, more nuanced matched studies are needed to be able to make truly meaningful comparisons between servicewomen and women in the general population. Age, childhood experiences and exposures, drinking histories, parental supports, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, parity status, etc. will vary for women with a service history and need controlling for comparisons to be accurate and helpful. If conducted well, such comparisons could provide important information about the distinct health and well-being outcomes of servicewomen and women Veterans.

#### Implications

This brief discussion situating Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans within Canadian research more broadly highlights that servicewomen and women Veterans are often left invisible both in current military and Veteran research *and* in relevant civilian-related research on women. Servicewomen and women Veterans seem to fall between the cracks of military and civilian research, as they are not the focus in either of these research areas: they do not fit into military research because they fall outside the male norm, and they do not fit into civilian research because they fall outside the civilian norm (Eichler, 2022). Therefore, research and research funding need to be specifically dedicated to develop this field to be on par with international standards. This is also a necessary step in responding to government calls for expanding women's representation in the military and ensuring sex- and gender-appropriate care and services.

# A Nascent Field: Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans

Based on our analysis of findings and the context provided by the international and Canadian research more broadly, Canadian servicewomen and women Veteran research can be seen as a nascent field, but one characterized by key limitations that we describe below (see also **Figure 3**).

## Characteristics of the Field

- The field of Canadian servicewomen and women Veteran research has been historically neglected, undervalued, and marginalized in Canadian military and Veteran research.
- There is very little research that focuses specifically on military and Veteran women's needs, experiences, and health and well-being outcomes.
- Relatively few themes are covered in Canadian servicewomen and women Veteran research. Most of the research focuses on the general "problem" of women's integration into the armed forces and women's participation in the CAF and in wars. There are significant knowledge gaps in the Canadian literature about serving and Veteran women during and post service and across the life course.
- The international research points to sex- and gender-specific military occupational hazards and life impacts on servicewomen and women Veterans that remain largely unexplored in the Canadian context.
- The field lacks longitudinal research. Research tends to focus on *either* serving women *or* women Veterans, with very few pieces including both serving and retired/released military or RCMP women.
- Most of the research focuses on military women, followed by research on women Veterans, and almost no research exists on RCMP servicewomen and women Veterans.

- The field lacks comparative research. Very little research compares Canadian *military* women with 1) military men, 2) military women internationally, 3) civilian women in general, and 4) civilian women in male-dominated occupations. Similarly, there is little comparative research between Canadian *Veteran* women and 1) Veteran men, 2) Veteran women internationally, 3) civilian women in general, and 4) civilian women in male-dominated occupations. The same lack of comparative work applies to RCMP servicewomen and women Veterans. These gaps pose challenges for researchers to build on in developing research on servicewomen and women Veterans.
- The existing research is uneven across the social and health/medical sciences, with a stronger development of social sciences research than health research on servicewomen and women Veterans.
- There are significant *gaps* in health research and clinical medical research on servicewomen and women Veterans, especially reproductive and sexual health, physical injury, mental health, interpersonal violence, chronic pain, pelvic floor health, and sleep.
- There is a lack of integrated social sciences and health research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada, which is arguably an important conduit to gaining holistic knowledge of the needs of women.
- There is a lack of health research that holistically addresses the mental, physical, social, psychological, and spiritual health needs of servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada.
- There is a lack of mixed-methods research, which would be beneficial to achieving a holistic understanding of women's experiences in the military and after. A notable exception is the recent work by Kristi Adamo and her team on musculoskeletal injuries (e.g., Adamo & Semeniuk, 2022).
- There is much less French-language research compared to English-language research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada.
- There is almost no research that focuses on racialized people and First Nations, Métis, and Inuit peoples as it intersects with research on servicewomen and women Veterans.
- There is no research that explicitly focuses on the experiences, needs, and challenges of trans military and Veteran women.

These gaps are significant and filling them would help ensure sex- and gender-informed harm prevention and care for service-related injuries and illness, and their sequelae over the lifespan of a woman (work, childbearing, menopause, aging, etc.). The gaps that need to be filled should minimally include the breadth and depth of themes identified in international research on servicewomen and women Veterans (see **Table 2**) as well as the ones listed above. Canadian-specific new themes should be addressed as they emerge.

## Figure 3

Select Key Characteristics of Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans



How do we best understand why the field of servicewomen and women Veteran research is what it is in Canada? Below we discuss some of the reasons that explain why this has been a historically neglected, underdeveloped, and marginalized field of study within Canadian military and Veteran research (see also **Figure 4**).

## Why the Field is What it is

- The application of SAGER principles is lacking in the broader military and Veteran research community, which further undermines our collective ability to produce research knowledge about servicewomen and women Veterans.
- Small sample sizes of women in past military and Veterans population-level studies have made it difficult to produce knowledge on women. The need for oversampling women has been neglected. Qualitative research has helped fill in some gaps in research, but is not sufficient.
- There is a lack of sex and gender disaggregated data from VAC and CAF (and the RCMP), and the data that exists is not readily shared, which makes it more difficult for external civilian researchers to develop research on servicewomen and women Veterans.
- It is a small field in terms of the number of researchers. Furthermore, a significant proportion of the research is produced by graduate students, many of whom do not go on to build full-time careers in this field, which is a loss to the field.
- It is very difficult for external civilian researchers to gain access to military members for the purpose of conducting research, especially in an operational context (i.e., on operations and deployments).

#### Figure 4



Reasons for Current State of Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans

- There is a lack of dialogue and collaboration in Canada between research on military/Veteran women and women's research more broadly. Instead, these research fields exist in silos, separated by the military-civilian divide, missing opportunities for cross-fertilization and cross-disciplinary collaboration.
- Research on servicewomen and women Veterans has been reactive, driven by external media attention, legal pressure, and advocacy by women, especially women MST survivors, and their allies, rather than by a coordinated intrinsic government-led interest in producing evidence-based research.
- There has been no dedicated government funding to develop research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada, in recognition of the need to undo existing biases in past research and fill in our knowledge base.
- While the research field of Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans has been experiencing growth over the past few years, there remains a lack of government leadership and of a coordinated cross-sectoral approach to this research.
- There is little to no overlap, synergy, or coordination at the federal government level between DND/CAF and VAC funded research on women *and other* federally funded research on women by, for example, the Department of Health or Women and Gender Equality Canada.

• There is a missed opportunity in Canada where government departments do not 1) take the lead on research on servicewomen and women Veterans, 2) miss crucial opportunities to collect, analyze, and share data, 3) tend to shy away from collaboration with external researchers, and 4) tend to not make internal research readily available to external researchers.

The next section discusses what can be done to overcome the current limitations that characterize the field of servicewomen and women Veteran research in Canada.

# Moving Forward: From Where We Are to Where We Need to Be

Today, the importance of systematically and meaningfully including women in military and Veteran research is beginning to be recognized by government and non-governmental stakeholders, and is reflected in recent DND/CAF and VAC ministerial mandate letters (Trudeau, 2021, 2021a, 2021b). However, the term 'women' is often not explicitly defined or examined, and sex and gender are often confused or conflated. As this new research interest develops, attention needs to be paid to *how* research on servicewomen and women Veterans is conducted. There are important conceptual and ethical considerations that should guide this research to ensure that it is theoretically and methodologically sound but also that it is respectful, empowering, not harmful or re-traumatizing, and useful to military and Veteran women themselves. After outlining emerging initiatives and suggesting best practices to be followed in military and Veteran women research, we end this section with a set of concrete recommendations for government and the broader research community to help advance research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada.

# Current Context: Emerging Stakeholder Initiatives

There are several emerging government and non-governmental stakeholder initiatives that are important to be aware of as we propose ways to move forward the agenda of servicewomen and women Veteran research in Canada.

# DND/CAF

The 2021 Minister of National Defence Mandate Letter includes new emphasis on servicewomen's needs, including "Expanding health services available to women in the CAF, ensuring comprehensive access to sexual and reproductive health resources" and "Increasing investments to understand and address the clinical, occupational and deployment health needs of CAF women" (Trudeau, 2021). The 2022 federal budget proposes funding "to expand the Canadian Armed Forces' health services and physical fitness programs to be more responsive to women and gender-diverse military personnel" (Department of Finance Canada, 2022, p. 136).

In the process of our consultations, we found out that DND/CAF is currently in the process of developing a Women's and Diversity Health Strategy under the purview of the Directorate of Force Health Protection. Several organizations within DND/CAF are working on servicewomen's health issues, including DRDC which has contracted a scientometric study on servicewomen research to the National Research Council Canada. Contracted research has recently been completed by Adamo and her team on sex disparities in musculoskeletal injuries among CAF members. This research identified additional areas for potential follow-up studies including on the connections between musculoskeletal injuries and reproductive health concerns unique to military women (Adamo & Semeniuk, 2021a; Adamo & Semeniuk, 2021b; Adamo & Semeniuk, 2022; Puranda et al., 2022).

All of these initiatives indicate a renewed interest in military women, and in particular in military women's health, research, and services. However, it is important to keep in mind that these initiatives are in their infancy, and it is too early to assess what their outcomes might be. At this time, there appears to be no full-time women's health subject matter expert at CAF. All CAF military women's health work appears to currently be done on a part time and/or secondary duty

basis. Furthermore, what was originally conceived of as a separate Women's Health Strategy seems to be now folded into a broader Women's and Diversity Health Strategy, which may once again make women's unique sex- and gender-specific needs and experiences less tangible and visible.

## VAC

In May 2019, VAC held the first Women Veterans Forum in Charlottetown, PEI, to discuss the sex- and gender-specific experiences and needs of women Veterans (Veterans Affairs Canada, 2019b). In March 2020, VAC officially announced the opening of its new Office of Women and LGBTQ2 Veterans (Veterans Affairs Canada, 2020). The mandate of the Office is "to work with Veterans, key stakeholders, experts and other Government departments to identify and address challenges and issues specific to women and LGBTQ2 Veterans and their families" (Veterans Affairs Canada, 2020). The Office works horizontally across VAC to raise awareness about the needs of women and LGBTQ2 Veterans as well as about GBA Plus.

Furthermore, VAC's Research Directorate has begun the task of integrating GBA Plus into its work over the past few years. This led, for example, to a working group on "Female Veterans: What do We Know and Where Do We Go from Here" at the 2018 CIMVHR Forum (coorganized by Michelle Morrison and Mary Beth MacLean from VAC and Maya Eichler from Mount Saint Vincent University).

Most significantly, VAC's Research Directorate developed a profile of female and male Veterans in Canada (MacLean et al., 2018) and continues to examine its data collection through a GBA Plus lens to determine sex- and gender-specific experiences and most urgent GBA Plus related research needs. In the course of our consultations, we learnt that the VAC Research Directorate has developed a VAC Women Veterans Research Plan (MacLean et al., 2021), which functions as a living document. It has four main pillars: the well-being of women Veterans; equitable access to and satisfaction with VAC's programs and services; GBA Plus/ intersectionality; sex, gender, and military culture. As part of the Women Veterans Research Plan, three external research projects have been funded on women's military-to-civilian transition, the experiences of military members with MST, and women Veterans homelessness. There is one additional relevant project that was funded through the VAC Veteran and Family Well-Being Fund, the Servicewomen's Salute Portal Project (Servicewomen's Salute, 2022). The Portal was not yet up and running at the time of the writing of this report but could potentially become a significant tool for storing and sharing research on Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans.

While women Veteran research is beginning to be undertaken by VAC, it is mostly being contracted out and it is being broadly conceived to include research on military sexual trauma, military culture, and 2SLGBTQI+ Veteran issues.

#### Centres of Excellence

VAC funds two Centres of Excellence for Veteran medical care: the Atlas Institute for Veterans and Families (previously called the Centre of Excellence on PTSD and related Mental Health Conditions) and the Chronic Pain Centre of Excellence for Canadian Veterans. Both have begun to turn their attention to sex, gender, and women Veteran issues. The Chronic Pain Centre is conducting research on "Identifying Differences in Chronic Pain Treatment Based on Sex and Gender in Canadian Veterans" (Chronic Pain Centre of Excellence for Canadian Veterans, 2022). Atlas has recently (Fall 2022) hosted a series of virtual conversations with women Veterans to inform the development of a participatory research project on women Veterans (Atlas Institute for Veterans and Families, 2022). For this purpose, Atlas has also produced a resource on "Women Veterans' Health Research" that identifies emerging themes and possible gaps for Canadian women Veteran research (Atlas Institute for Veterans and Families, n.d.).

# Best Practices: Conceptual and Ethical Considerations

As research interest in servicewomen and women Veterans increases in and beyond government, it is important to consider how this research is undertaken. Simply adding women to the way we have conducted military and Veteran research in the past—with its systemic sex and gender biases—is problematic and can potentially cause harm (Eichler, 2017). If researchers follow the dominant "add women and stir" type of approach, they are likely to continue using male-assumed questions without capturing the unique sex- and gender-specific experiences and needs of servicewomen and women Veterans. Below we outline best practices that should be followed when conducting research on servicewomen and women Veterans (see also **Figure 5**).

### Figure 5



Best Practices for Conducting Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans

#### Conceptual Considerations

At the very minimum, all military and Veteran research needs to apply Gender-Based Analysis Plus (GBA Plus) and follow Sex and Gender Equity in Research (SAGER) guidelines. GBA Plus as adopted by the Government of Canada calls for a consideration of how the effects of sex and gender intersect with, and may be exacerbated, by other individual or structural factors rooted class, race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, Indigeneity, relationship or marital status, age, and more. GBA Plus is a mainstreaming tool to ensure that all policies, programs, and research are inclusive and do not have unintended downstream effects on women, men, non-binary, or gender diverse people across intersectionalities (Government of Canada, 2022). GBA Plus is used across government departments, agencies, and funding bodies, though it is still inconsistently and often superficially applied at VAC and DND/CAF (we are unsure about how it is applied by the RCMP). In the context of health research, GBA Plus is sometimes referred to as SGBA Plus in order to highlight the importance of including consideration of sex in addition to gender, but GBA Plus should include consideration of both sex and gender within an intersectional framework (Health Canada, 2022).

SAGER guidelines call on authors to carefully use the terms sex and gender, and for research to be designed in ways that can reveal potential sex-related and/or gender-related differences or aspects (Heidari et al., 2016). In 2020, CIMVHR as well as VAC adopted SAGER guidelines as a requirement for researchers working with them. As far as we know, DND/CAF and the RCMP have not officially endorsed SAGER guidelines. For additional resources on how to apply GBA/SGBA Plus and SAGER in military and veteran research, see CIMVHR (2020), Eichler (2021), and Belanger et al. (2021).

Beyond GBA Plus and SAGER, feminist theory offers important and more wide-ranging considerations for how to carry out research on servicewomen and women Veterans. Feminism is, among other things, "a mode of analysis... a way of asking questions and searching for answers" that foregrounds sex and gender as categories of analysis (Hartsock, quoted in Cameron, 2019, p. 2). Feminist theory underscores the importance of distinguishing sex from gender (Eichler, 2017), and any research on servicewomen and women Veterans needs to begin with a clear application and correct use of sex and gender concepts. Sex refers to biological classification as male, female, or intersex. It is based on anatomical, hormonal, chromosomal, and genetic distinctions. Gender refers to socio-cultural norms, behaviours, and roles associated with masculinity and femininity as well as to non-binary gender expressions (gender fluid, Two-Spirit, any combination of masculine/feminine). Gender is attributed based on perceived sex, but individuals may not identify with their sex assigned at birth. Sex and gender interact in a large variety of ways. Gender refers to both structural normative aspects and individual identity and expression. It is important for researchers to consider both sex and gender, and their interplay (Eichler, 2021).

Feminist theory underscores that not all women's lives are shaped in the same way by their sex and gender position in society. It is therefore necessary to examine overlaps and intersections between sex/gender as well as the intersections of sex and gender with other individual or structural factors. Thus, "intersectionality"—a framework first developed by Black feminist legal scholar Kimberlé Crenshaw (1989)—is part and parcel of conducting feminist-informed research on military and Veteran women. Intersectionality has specific relevance in the military context, where layers of disadvantage may arise, for example, as a result of overlapping experiences of
lower rank, racialized status, gender, relationship status, and non-heteronormative family constellations as well as through the societal and military manifestations and intersections of racism, sexism, homophobia, and more.

In research on servicewomen and women Veterans, it is important to keep in mind that women's experiences are connected to structural and systemic power inequalities based on sex and gender (Hudson, 2020). The goal of feminist-informed research is not only to describe women's experiences or their health outcomes (though that is an important first step) but to help explain *why* women are having these experiences and outcomes and to help bring about positive change leading to greater equity (Eichler, 2017).

One observation we made in the course of our consultations is that there is a newly emerging trend among government (that is replicated in research) to lump together all minority populations in an attempt to address inclusion and diversity. This trend leads to a conflation of the experiences and needs of minority populations and, we believe, does not serve any particular subpopulation well. One can see this trend, for example, in the creation of an Office of Women and LGBTQ2 Veterans at VAC or in the CAF Women's and Diversity Health Strategy. One might term this new approach the "Women Plus" problem—lumping women and other diverse minorities together. While sex- and gender-blindness or neutrality was a key obstacle to servicewomen and women Veteran research in the past, the "Women Plus" approach presents new challenges related to making military and Veteran women's unique sex- and gender-specific experiences and needs visible. While initiatives to promote equity, diversity, and inclusion may benefit women, catch-all solutions meant to resolve issues of inequities for all minority military members and Veterans create new blind spots.

While conducting our consultations, we were also faced with the question of whether all trans and non-binary people should be included in research targeting women. When deciding how and whether to include trans and non-binary people in research specifically about women or female members or Veterans, we recommend starting by evaluating the research goals. Including all groups would appear more inclusive but could be less meaningful. Some studies are concerned with sex differences, others with gender differences, and some with both. Moreover, it is important to keep in mind that cis women's sex- and gender-specific health needs are unique and will have to be addressed separately. For instance, one would not include trans women in a study about cervical cancer among CAF women. Trans and non-binary service members and Veterans should be included in research where appropriate to the research questions and goals, but in many cases, they will require their own separate research. Rather than grouping women, nonbinary, and trans military members and Veterans together for the sake of inclusion, it is most vital to have clarity on research questions, goals, and design in order to decide whether the research requires a focus on a particular group of women (e.g., cis women, lesbians, non-binary people, trans women, racialized women, etc.) or include all women. Arguably, it may be more useful in the future to clearly separate research on all women, research on cis women versus trans women, research on broader gendered issues such as MST, and research on broader diversity issues such as sexuality. These are all separate topics that deserve their own dedicated research.

#### Ethical Considerations

Canada has national research guidelines on how to ethically conduct research involving human participants—the Canadian Tri-Council Policy Statement (TCPS 2) guidelines on ethics. These guidelines apply to all research being conducted within institutions eligible to receive Tri-Council funding. The central principles of TCPS 2 are "Respect for Persons, Concern for Welfare, and Justice" (Canadian Institutes of Health Research et al., 2018). Responsible and ethical research requires: the ongoing informed consent of participants; fairness and equity in research design, conduct, and application; ensuring the privacy and confidentiality of research participants; and more.

The policy addresses issues such as conflict of interest and how to responsibly engage in research with vulnerable or potentially vulnerable populations, which would include all servicewomen and women Veterans, and ensuring fairness and equity in research participation so the benefits and burdens of research are shared equitably.

The TCPS 2 emphasizes the need to be attentive to sex and gender to ensure equity and fairness in research:

Women have historically been inappropriately excluded from participating in some research. This exclusion of women, where unwarranted, has delayed the advancement of knowledge, denied potential benefits to women, and exposed women to harm when research findings from male-only research projects were generalized inappropriately to women, as has often been the case in clinical drug trials. The inclusion of women in research advances the commitment to Justice, improves the generalizability of research findings to women where that is a goal of the research, and is essential to ensure that women and men benefit equally from research (Canadian Institutes for Health Research et al., 2018, p. 50).

While not explicitly stating their definition of 'women' in the quotation above, it is important to note that depending on the particular research question and topic, this statement will apply to the inclusion of cis or trans women, or both, depending on the research context.

The TCPS 2 also provides important ethical questions and considerations for research on vulnerable and Indigenous populations that are highly relevant to the military and Veteran context. These are:

- How can harm be prevented and risks minimized?
- How can lived experience voices be meaningfully included?
- How can research become more equitable and inclusive?
- How can benefits of research be accrued more equitably?

All military and Veteran women (cis and trans) need to be actively included, in a traumainformed way, and have an organized voice in military and Veteran research (as well as policy, program, and care design).

TCPS 2 resonates with feminist scholarship which foregrounds questions of ethics and power in the research process and integrates strategies to address power differentials between the researcher and the researched into their research design. These strategies include self-reflexivity of the researcher on their positionality, participatory research tools, and trauma-awareness (Nagy Hesse-Biber, 2013). Awareness of power differentials and the need to prevent harm to

potentially vulnerable populations (e.g., all military and Veteran women) can be enhanced by applying robust tools such as those of the Canadian Tri-Council.

#### How to Engage Women in Research About Them

Research conducted on servicewomen and women Veterans should seek to actively involve the populations under study. This can be done through these steps, for example:

- Consult with relevant women and consider co-creation of the research design with them (e.g., in determining the research questions, the methods, the objectives, etc.)
- Design participatory community-engaged research (such as participatory action research), where the appropriate communities have a stake in the research itself and have guaranteed access to the research findings.
- In the implementation and knowledge mobilization, inform the community being studied about the results and actively include them in interpreting the results and in deciding on knowledge translation and policy or program implementation (for the participatory elements that should guide women's research, see, for example: Chrystal et al., 2022).

Women should be actively included in military/Veteran research design, implementation, and knowledge application to ensure the research being conducted is of benefit to them and does not reproduce existing power inequalities. Moving forward, servicewomen and women Veteran voices could also be included in ethics review boards approving military/Veteran research as another way to minimize harm and maximize benefits to the community.

#### Trauma-Informed and Military Culture-Aware Research

Research on all (cis and trans) serving and Veteran women must be trauma-informed, which involves actively finding ways to prevent any (further) harm being done during research involving potentially vulnerable research participants. This means researchers must learn about the many sources and manifestations of trauma among military and Veteran women, and how to not re-traumatize them as research participants. Considering the small size of the serving and Veteran women population, it is also advisable that researchers collaborate in order to, where possible, minimize the burden on women of time, energy, and effort of retelling their stories. Trauma-informed practices include empowerment, maximizing choice and control, collaboration and relationship building, promoting safety, respect, and acceptance, highlighting strengths and resilience, minimizing possibilities for traumatization, fostering cultural competence, valuing flexibility, and openness to critique (Elliott et al., 2005).

As TCPS 2 also states:

In general, researchers should be familiar with the cultural, social and economic circumstances of prospective participants, groups or communities. Researchers should anticipate, to the best of their ability, needs of participants, groups and their communities that might arise in any given research project (Canadian Institutes of Health Research et al., 2018, p. 54).

Thus, a trauma-informed approach goes hand-in-hand with an awareness and understanding of military culture, including its long-standing history of sexism and misogyny, as it intersects with

other forms of oppression and marginalization such as racism, homophobia, settler colonialism, and ableism (Minister of National Defence Advisory Panel on Systemic Racism and Discrimination, 2022). Without a deep awareness of military history and the lived experiences of servicewomen and women Veterans, the risk of re-traumatization is increased.

Research needs to begin from the principle of "do no harm." This means ensuring it does not lead to additional risks, burdens, or harms to those being studied. It is best practice to require training of researchers to ensure trauma awareness, sex and gender awareness, military culture awareness, and robust knowledge of how to apply the principles of TCPS 2 by those conducting research with servicewomen and women Veterans.

# Recommendations

Compared to the past, there is much more research on servicewomen and women Veterans being undertaken today, and more is in progress. There is also much more focus on women at VAC and DND/CAF compared to the past. What will it take to turn this momentum and these disparate initiatives into a concerted strategy to fill the existing gaps? Existing historic and contemporary research on servicewomen and women Veterans is primarily driven by the needs of government and external pressure rather than the needs of women themselves. It is time to pivot the focus to research that benefits all (cis and trans) serving and Veteran women and captures their unique experiences and health and well-being needs. Overall, there is an urgent need for strategic and coordinated interdisciplinary, cross-departmental, and cross-sectoral collaboration to fill the gaps in existing research knowledge on servicewomen and women Veterans. Academic researchers cannot make the necessary progress in this area of research without government leadership, dedicated funding, and strategic coordination and collaboration.

#### Recommendations for Government

- Acknowledge and clearly articulate the gaps in servicewomen and women Veteran research in Canada.
- Allocate consistent and dedicated funding for servicewomen and women Veteran research in Canada to fill the existing gaps.
- Ideally, DND/CAF and VAC would collaboratively lead research on servicewomen and women Veterans. This could include, for example, a DND/CAF and VAC led Research Roundtable or Research Interest Group on military and Veteran women research. The RCMP should be included in these efforts.
- If not interested or able to do so, DND/CAF and VAC could fund the creation of an external university-based research chair in military and Veteran women's health and well-being research.
- DND/CAF and VAC should consider creating dedicated full-time positions for women's research to help ensure the necessary coordination of research required to advance military and Veteran women's research and translate this knowledge into actionable policy, programming, and services.

- DND/CAF and VAC are encouraged to make data about Canadian serving and Veteran women publicly available and easily accessible to external researchers.
- VAC client data could be leveraged to better understand the strengths, needs, and context of treatment-seeking women Veterans.
- DND/CAF is encouraged to find ways to make data on military women, and other sexand gender-disaggregated data, available to researchers external to DND/CAF. Research on serving women simply cannot be done in an effective way without cooperation and collaboration from CAF.
- DND/CAF should consider compiling and making publicly available a list of all historic and recent servicewomen research conducted or contracted by the department. We also suggest DND/CAF create an outward facing website to share available information on servicewomen research.
- VAC is encouraged to list all of the research they have conducted or contracted that is specifically on women Veterans. The VAC 1992-2021 Annotated Bibliography currently includes only a list of sex and gender research and not of women Veteran research (Agustin et al., 2022).
- DND/CAF and VAC should consider compiling a list of all GBA Plus analyses conducted by the departments and make these analyses publicly available. Open government demands that the public have access to and can review analyses completed by federal departments on their client base.
- VAC and DND/CAF should consider creating a cross-departmental women's health research advisory committee. If the GBA Plus analyses conducted by the two departments cannot for some reason be made publicly available they could be made available to the advisory committee for quality assurance, continuous education, and quality improvement purposes.
- Longitudinal research examining the life course of servicewomen and women Veterans should be conducted. This will require collaboration by DND/CAF and VAC to design studies that cross over between military personnel and Veterans.
- DND/CAF and VAC should consider collaborating on women's research with each other as well as with external researchers, the RCMP, and other relevant government departments (such as Health Canada—Minister of Health and Minister of Mental Health and Addictions—and Women and Gender Equality Canada).
- The RCMP is encouraged to enhance internal research capacity on servicewomen and women Veterans and collaborate with DND/CAF and VAC as well as with external researchers on this.
- There needs to be a mechanism of internal or external oversight to ensure DND/CAF and VAC produce sex- and gender-equitable research, that all DND/CAF and VAC research is designed with GBA Plus and SAGER principles in mind, and this research is made publicly available for research, education, and transparency purposes.

#### Recommendations for the Whole Research Community—Government and Beyond

- Apply SAGER guidelines to all military and Veteran research in general.
- Conduct research focused specifically on the experiences, needs, health, and well-being of serving/Veteran women, not just research driven by the needs of government or in reaction to external pressures.
- Consistently follow best practices outlined above in terms of the application of feminist conceptual principles, SAGER guidelines, GBA Plus, intersectionality, ethics (TCPS 2) principles, trauma-awareness, and military culture awareness when conducting research on servicewomen and/or women Veterans.
- Do not erase women's experiences by conflating the needs of all minority military members and Veterans in an effort to address inclusion and diversity.
- Clearly define 'women' to state whether research is about cis or trans women or both.
- Recognize that there remains a need for separate cis women's sex- and gender-specific research (and policies, programming, services, and care).
- Recognize that separate research will be required to capture the experiences, needs, and health and well-being challenges and outcomes of transgender women.
- Researchers completing population-level studies of Veterans or serving members should oversample for women to ensure they are able to make statements about women and compare them to findings about men. This includes intentionally sampling women to investigate intersectional factors such as race, years and type of service, family status, relationship status, and so on.
- Researchers in government and beyond should consider leveraging the new census data that includes information on Veterans to advance knowledge on military and Veteran women (Statistics Canada, 2022).
- Conduct research on RCMP servicewomen and women Veterans as this area presents a particular blind spot in our knowledge.
- Conduct research on a broad range of topics (seen in the international literature) across health/medical and social sciences, including sex-specific topics, gender-specific issues, and on the interplay of sex and gender, as well as on their intersections with a variety of other military and non-military specific factors.
- Encourage a broad variety of types of research on servicewomen and women Veterans to gain holistic knowledge of: 1) sex-specific foundational clinical medical research on servicewomen and women Veterans, that already exists for servicemen and Veteran men; 2) subjective, qualitatively-driven, patient-prioritized, gender-focused research on servicewomen and women Veterans to better understand their unique experiences and needs; 3) collaborative mixed-methods research that may include clinical medical and social determinants of health/social science focused research; and more.

- Conduct relevant comparisons of Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans to uncover specific outcomes and unique experiences. Specifically, compare military/Veteran women with: 1) military/Veteran men, 2) military/Veteran women internationally, 3) civilian women in the general population, and 4) civilian women in male-dominated occupations. These comparisons will help identify those issues that are specific to Canadian military and Veteran women, not just specific women's issues or specific Veterans' issues.
- Given the uniqueness and low numbers of women in some military trades, international collaborative research on servicewomen and women Veteran should be pursued.
- To overcome the current disconnect between research on military women and research on women in the general population, the research community should consider engaging in novel and innovative collaborations on women's research across military and civilian spheres.
- CIMVHR could organize recurring (e.g., annual) one-day military and Veteran women's health and well-being research focussed workshops to bring together researchers inside government and beyond who have an interest in advancing this area of research in Canada.
- CIMVHR could support networking, training, and mentoring for emerging scholars working on servicewomen and women Veteran issues to help bridge the gap between generations, ensuring lines of research do not end when a researcher retires.
- Interested researchers could consider applying for funding through DND MINDS (Mobilizing Insights in Defence and Security) for a collaborative network grant on military and Veteran women's health and well-being.
- Interested researchers are encouraged to participate in the recently emerged ad hoc Military Women's Health Research Interest Group organized by Dr. Karen Breeck (Women Veterans Research and Engagement Network).

# Limitations

The current study encountered several limitations across four areas:

#### 1. Terminology

- Sex and gender are at times used incorrectly or inconsistently in the research, which makes it difficult to always accurately describe the reviewed research.
- The term 'women' is rarely defined in the research. We have to assume that the overwhelming majority of research discussed in this study is on cis women and does not include the experiences of trans women.

#### 2. Databases

- We were limited to searching electronic databases to which we had access, and identifying additional sources through hand searching and consultation.
- We did not have access to extensive medical research databases and may have therefore missed relevant sources.
- Our searches provided only a partial snapshot in time. Library databases are limited in the time period they cover, so our searches may not have yielded all relevant research despite our large search timeframe of 1885 to 2022.

### 3. Access

- Despite the commitment to open government, there is a lack of transparency when it comes to government data and grey literature, and we were therefore not able to access all relevant grey literature.
- We were not able to consult with all relevant stakeholders.

## 4. Team Expertise

- Members of the research team do not have clinical medical expertise, so the clinical medical research aspects are less developed than the social sciences and general health aspects.
- The French-language search was conducted by a bilingual Anglophone, not a Francophone speaker, which potentially may have affected search results.

Despite these few limitations, this scoping review provides a comprehensive (though not complete) list of Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans on which other researchers can build.

# Conclusion

This research describes and explains the current state of research and existing gaps in servicewomen and women Veteran research in Canada. We identified a total of 177 sources of Canadian literature that met our study's inclusion criteria. We also reviewed an additional body of research to contextualize our findings, including international scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews, and meta-analyses on servicewomen and women Veterans and adjacent and other Canadian literature that is related to the topic of servicewomen and women Veterans, but did not explicitly meet our inclusion criteria.

There are many knowledge gaps that need to be filled when it comes to understanding the experiences, needs, health, and well-being of servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada during and after service and across the life course. The field of Canadian servicewomen and women Veteran research has been historically neglected and undervalued, but is currently experiencing an upswing. However, this new growth is unevenly developed and lacks strategic coordination and interdisciplinary, cross-departmental, and cross-sectoral collaboration.

The international research points to sex- and gender-specific military occupational hazards and life impacts on servicewomen and women Veterans that remain largely unexplored in the Canadian context. These gaps are significant because filling them would help ensure sex- and gender-informed harm prevention and care for service-related injuries and illness, and their sequelae impacts over the lifespan of a woman (work, childbearing, menopause, aging, etc.).

This study identifies key issues and gaps, and presents an analysis of the state of servicewomen and women Veteran research. In addition, based on our review of the literature, we have developed recommendations for future research and best practices for government and the research community as a whole that will help close gaps in knowledge and remove systemic sex and gender biases in servicewomen and women Veteran research in Canada.

Research gaps should be acknowledged, and dedicated government research funding needs to be set aside to address them. Multiple types of research on servicewomen and women Veterans are needed: clinical medical, holistic health and social sciences, longitudinal research, mixedmethods research, and more. Military and Veteran research on women needs to apply (and correctly use) sex, gender, and intersectional analysis, and be consistent with existing traumaaware, military culture-aware, feminist-informed, and ethical research best practices. It is crucial that researchers (and policymakers) not conflate or make invisible women's experiences in attempts to address the needs of all minority military members and Veterans, for example, through the broad application of inclusion and diversity. There remains a need for separate women's sex- and gender-specific research (and policies, programming, services, and care). There is also a need for separate dedicated research on transgender women's experiences and needs.

To date, individual researchers inside and outside of government have taken the initiative to begin addressing gaps in research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada, but individual researchers can only advance this research area in a limited way. There is an urgent need to fill the existing gaps in research knowledge on servicewomen and women Veterans. Academic researchers and government cannot make the necessary progress in this area of research without leadership, dedicated funding, strategic coordination, and interdisciplinary, cross-departmental, and cross-sectoral collaborations as well as training, mentoring, and networking of emerging scholars working on servicewomen and women Veteran research. Government has an opportunity to leverage existing and newly emerging sources of government data to produce quick wins in the area of population and client-level studies on servicewomen and women Veterans, as well as to make publicly available and accessible all relevant data and research on servicewomen and women Veterans.

The lack of Canadian research-based evidence to inform policies, programs, care, and supports means that we must assume that sex- and gender-specific harm and inequities are currently being perpetuated. Canada could be leading the way on servicewomen and women Veteran research considering that it has had women working in non-traditional military roles for over thirty years. Instead, Canadian research is lagging behind internationally and not serving women's best interests. This could change rapidly with government leadership and the allotment of targeted funds and resources to produce a more strategic and coordinated approach to research in this important area. What is required to move forward is a whole of government and whole of research community effort.

#### References

- Adamo, K. B., & Semeniuk, K. (2021a). A multi-stage approach to addressing sex-disparities in musculoskeletal injuries in military members. Report: Aim 1 Questionnaire (Report submitted to Defence Research and Development Canada No. W7714-207286/001/SV1; p. 74). University of Ottawa.
- Adamo, K. B., & Semeniuk, K. (2021b). A multi-stage approach to addressing sex-disparities in musculoskeletal injuries in military members. Report: Aim 2 Environmental Scan (Focus Group Sessions) (Report submitted to Defence Research and Development Canada No. W7714-207286/001/SV1; p. 67). University of Ottawa.
- Adamo, K. B., & Semeniuk, K. (2022). A multi-stage approach to addressing sex-disparities in musculoskeletal injuries in military members. Milestone 4: Report (Final report submitted to Defence Research and Development Canada No. W7714-207286/001/SV1; p. 284). University of Ottawa.
- Agustin, D., Keough, J., Poirier, A., & Pound, T. (2022). Annotated Bibliography of Veterans Affairs Canada Research Directorate Publications for 1992 – 2021: Research Evidence to Support the Well-Being of Veterans and Their Families (VAC Research Directorate Technical Report].
   Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada.
- Arbour, T. H. L. (2022). Report of the Independent External Comprehensive Review of the Department of National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces (p. 420) [External Review]. Borden Ladner Gervais.
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616

Atlas Institute for Veterans and Families. (n.d.). Women veterans' health research (p. 17).

Atlas Institute for Veterans and Families. (2022). *Women Veterans Dialogue Series*. https://atlasveterans.ca/community/events/women-veterans-dialogue-series/

- Bastarache, M. Hon. (2017). Broken dreams broken lives: The devastating effects of sexual harassment on women in the RCMP [Final report on the implementation of the Merlo Davidson settlement agreement]. Royal Canadian Mounted Police. <u>https://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/en/final-report-</u> <u>implementation-merlo-davidson-settlement-agreement</u>
- Belanger, S., & Davis, K. (2010). *Transforming traditions: Women, leadership & the Canadian Navy,* 1942-2010. Canadian Defence Academy Press.
- Bélanger, S. A. H., Pedlar, D., Cranston, L., & Eichler, M. (Eds.). (2021). JMVFH supplement: Exploring sex, gender and intersectionality in the health and well-being of military members, Veterans and their families. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(S1).
  https://jmvfh.utpjournals.press/toc/jmvfh/7/s1
- Biskupski-Mujanovic, S. (2019). Smart peacekeeping: Deploying Canadian women for a better peace? *International Journal*, 74(3), 405–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0020702019874791</u>
- Brien, S. E., Lorenzetti, D. L., Lewis, S., Kennedy, J., & Ghali, W. A. (2010). Overview of a formal scoping review on health system report cards. *Implementation Science*, 5(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-5-2
- Cameron, D. (2019). *Feminism: A brief introduction to the ideas, debates, and politics of the movement.* University of Chicago Press.
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada,
  & Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council. (2018). *Tri-Council policy statement: Ethical conduct for research involving humans*. Government of Canada.
  https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/policy-politique tcps2-eptc2 2018.html
- Centre for Military Women's Research: Research & Collaboration. (2022). CMWR. https://www.centreformilitarywomensresearch.com/

- Chapman, K., & Eichler, M. (2014). Engendering two solitudes? Media representations of women in combat in Quebec and the rest of Canada. *International Journal*, 69(4), 594–611. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020702014543708
- Chronic Pain Centre of Excellence for Canadian Veterans. (2022). *Current research*. Improving Care through Evidence Based Research. https://www.veteranschronicpain.ca/research
- Chrystal, J. G., Dyer, K. E., Gammage, C. E., Klap, R. S., Carney, D. V., Frayne, S. M., Yano, E. M., & Hamilton, A. B. (2022). Increasing engagement of women veterans in health research. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 37(1), 42–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-021-07126-4</u>
- CIHR Institute for Gender and Health. (2012). *What a difference sex and gender make: A gender, sex and health research casebook* [Research Casebook]. Government of Canada. https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/documents/What\_a\_Difference\_Sex\_and\_Gender\_Make-en.pdf
- Canadian Institute for Military and Veteran Health Research (CIMVHR). (2020, October 8). *CIMVHR symposium series: Sex and gender*. https://symposium-series.cimvhr.ca/en/2020/sex-gender
- Comeau, L. (1990). *Women's struggle to gain equality status in the RCMP* [Master's thesis]. Carleton University. <u>https://elibrary.ru/item.asp?id=5821726</u>
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *The University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 139–167.
- Daudt, H. M., van Mossel, C., & Scott, S. J. (2013). Enhancing the scoping study methodology: A large, inter-professional team's experience with Arksey and O'Malley's framework. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 13(48), 1-9.
- Davis, K. (1997). Understanding women's exit from the Canadian Forces: Implications for integration. In L. L. Weinstein & C. C. White (Eds.), *Wives and warriors: Women and the military in the United States and Canada* (pp. 179–198). Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Davis, K. (Ed.). (2007). Women and leadership in the Canadian Forces: Perspectives and experience.Canadian Defence Academy Press.

- Davis, K. (2011). Media, war and gender: Considering Canadian casualties in Afghanistan. In *Security and the military between reality and perception* (pp. 63–78). Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft.
- Davis, K. (2013). Negotiating gender in the Canadian Forces 1970-1999 [Doctoral dissertation]. Royal Military College of Canada.
- Davis, K. D. (1994). Organizational environment and turnover: Understanding women's exit from the Canadian Forces [Master's thesis]. McGill University.
- Davis, K. D. (2020). Negotiating gender inclusion. In A. Edgar, R. Mangat, & B. Momani (Eds.), Strengthening the Canadian Armed Forces through diversity and inclusion (pp. 36–51). University of Toronto Press.
- Department of Finance Canada. (2022). *Budget 2022: A plan to grow our economy and make life more affordable*. Government of Canada. <u>https://budget.gc.ca/2022/report-rapport/chap5-en.html</u>
- Department of National Defence and Canadian Armed Forces Ombudsman. (2022). *Employment Equity* and Diversity in the Department of National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces Report [Report to the Minister of National Defence]. Government of Canada. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/ombudsman-national-defence-forces/reports-news-</u> <u>statistics/investigative-reports/employment-equity-diversity/employment-equity-diversity-</u>

report.html

Deschamps, M. (2015). External review into sexual misconduct and sexual harassment in the Canadian Armed Forces [External Review]. External Review Authority.

http://www.forces.gc.ca/assets/FORCES\_Internet/docs/en/caf-community-support-servicesharassment/era-final-report-(april-20-2015)-eng.pdf

- Désilets, V. (2021). Stéréotypes et masculinité au sein des Forces armées canadiennes: Étude qualitative du point de vue de l'attrition [La thèse de master]. Université du Québec à Rimouski.
- Earnscliffe Strategy Group. (2017). *The recruitment and employment of women in the Canadian Armed Forces: Research report* (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2017-003; p. 148). Defence Research and Development Canada.

- Eichler, M. (2017). Add female veterans and stir? A feminist perspective on gendering veterans research. Armed Forces & Society, 43(4), 674–694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327X16682785</u>
- Eichler, M. (2021). Equity in military and Veteran research: Why it is essential to integrate an intersectional sex and gender lens. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(S1), 143–149. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0016">https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0016</a>
- Eichler, M. (2022). Making military and Veteran women (in) visible: The continuity of gendered experiences in military-to-civilian transition. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(S1), 36–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0077</u>
- Eichler, M., Cramm, H., & Smith-Evans, K. (2022). *Women veterans experience with military to civilian transition* (Final Report Contract No. 3000731556; p. 51). Submitted to Veterans Affairs Canada.
- Eichler, M., & Smith-Evans, K. (2018). Gender in veteran reintegration and transition: A scoping review. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 4(1), 5–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-</u> 0004
- Eichler, M., Smith-Evans, K., Spanner, L., & Tam-Seto, L. (2021). Mind the gap: Sex, gender, and intersectionality in military-to-civilian transitions. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 19–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0018</u>
- Eichler, M., Spanner, L., Tam-Seto, L., & Smith-Evans, K. (2021). *Literature Review on "Military-to-Civilian Transition: The Importance of GBA+ for the Canadian Armed Forces"* (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2021-C132; p. 201). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Elliott, D. E., Bjelajac, P., Fallot, R. D., Markoff, L. S., & Reed, B. G. (2005). Trauma-informed or trauma-denied: Principles and implementation of trauma-informed services for women. *Journal* of Community Psychology, 33(4), 461–477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20063</u>
- Febbraro, A. R. (2003). Women, Leadership and Gender Integration in the Canadian Combat Arms: A Qualitative Study. Defence R&D Canada.
- Fetzner, M. G., Abrams, M. P., & Asmundson, G. J. (2013). Symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder and depression in relation to alcohol-use and alcohol-related problems among Canadian Forces

veterans. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 58(7), 417–425. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371305800707

- George, T. (2020). Troubling diversity and inclusion: Racialized women's experiences in the Canadian Armed Forces. *Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice*, *41*(2), 42–56. https://doi.org/10.7202/1076199ar
- Gill, R., & Febbraro, A. R. (2013). Experiences and perceptions of sexual harassment in the Canadian Forces combat arms. *Violence Against Women*, 19(2), 269–287. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801213478140
- Gouliquer, L. (2000). Negotiating sexuality: Lesbians in the Canadian military. In *Women's bodies, women's lives: Health, well-being and body image* (pp. 254–276). Sumach Press.
- Gouliquer, L., Poulin, C., & McWilliams, J. (2020). Othering of full-time and volunteer women firefighters in the Canadian Fire Services. *Qualitative Sociology Review*, XVI(3), 48–69 <u>https://doi.org/10.18778/1733-8077.16.3.04</u>
- Gouliquer, L., Poulin, C., & Moore, J. (2018). A threat to Canadian national security: A lesbian soldier's story. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *15*(2/3), 323–335.
- Government of Canada. (2019, November 6). *Well-being Framework* [Government of Canada]. My Transition Guide: Transitioning from Military to Civilian Life. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/department-national-defence/corporate/reports-publications/transition-guide/well-being-framework.html</u>
- Government of Canada. (2022, October 13). *Gender-based Analysis Plus (GBA Plus)* [Government of Canada]. Women and Gender Equality Canada. <u>https://women-gender-equality.canada.ca/en/gender-based-analysis-plus.html</u>
- Guerin, E., & Howe, D. (2021). *Summary of challenges and barriers for women in the CAF* (Scientific Brief DRDC-RDDC-2021-B055; p. 16). Defence Research and Development Canada.

- Hachey, K. K., Sudom, K., Sweet, J., Thompson, J. M., MacLean, M. B., & VanTil, L. (2016).
  Differences in adjustment to civilian life between male and female Canadian Armed Forces veterans. *Veterans & Families Research Hub, 2, Women in the Military, Part Two*, 1–12.
- Hajizadeh, M., Aiken, A., & Cox, C. (2019). Risk factors associated with sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Does it vary by sex and environmental command? *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 48(8), 2581–2594. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-019-01507-x</u>
- Hall, A. L., Sweet, J., Tweel, M., & MacLean, M. B. (2022). Comparing negative health indicators in male and female veterans with the Canadian general population. *BMJ Mil Health*, *168*(1), 82–87. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjmilitary-2020-001526
- Hassan, M. (2017). Making "space" for women in Canadian peacekeeping: The battle of closing the gap [Master's thesis]. University of British Columbia. <u>https://doi.org/10.14288/1.0362412</u>
- Health Canada. (2022, March 29). Health portfolio sex and gender-based analysis policy [Government of Canada]. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/corporate/transparency/corporate-managementreporting/heath-portfolio-sex-gender-based-analysis-policy.html</u>
- Heidari, S., Babor, T. F., De Castro, P., Tort, S., & Curno, M. (2016). Sex and gender equity in research:
  Rationale for the SAGER guidelines and recommended use. *Research Integrity and Peer Review*,
  1(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41073-016-0007-6
- Hudson, V. M., Bowen, D. L., & Nielsen, P. L. (2020). *The first political order: How sex shapes* governance and national security worldwide. Columbia University Press.
- Innovation Hub Privy Council Office. (2017). *Behavioural Insights Project: Increasing recruitment of women into the Canadian Armed Forces* (Behavioural Insights Project). Government of Canada.
- Karmas, L.-M. A. (1984). Trial employment of Canadian forces servicewomen in a combat service support unit [Master's thesis]. University of British Columbia. https://doi.org/10.14288/1.0096352

- King, E. M., & Busolo, D. S. (2022). The role of primary care Nurse Practitioners in reducing barriers to cervical cancer screening: A literature review. *Canadian Oncology Nursing Journal*, 32(2), 233– 257. https://doi.org/10.5737/23688076322233244
- Kitchen, B. L. (2004). *Ma'am, yes ma'am: Gender relations and institutional change in the Royal Newfoundland Regiment* [Master's thesis]. Memorial University.
- Kovitz, M. (2000). The enemy within: Female soldiers in the Canadian Armed Forces. *Canadian Woman Studies*, *19*(4), 36–41.
- Levac, D., Colquhoun, H., & O'Brien, K. K. (2010). Scoping studies: Advancing the methodology. *Implementation Science*, 5(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-5-69</u>
- Linden, R. (1985). Attrition among male and female members of the RCMP. *Canadian Police College Journal*, *9*(1), 86–103.
- Lipton, S. (2017). She also served: Bringing to light the contributions of the Canadian Jewish servicewomen of the World War II. *Canadian Jewish Studies*, *25*(1), 93–116. https://doi.org/10.25071/1916-0925.40016
- MacKenzie, M., & Gunaydin, E. (2022). Does raising the combat exclusion lead to equality? Measuring the recruitment, retention and promotion of women in Canada and New Zealand's defence forces. *Journal of Military and Strategic Studies*, 21(2), 107–152.
- MacLean, M. B., Clow, B., Ralling, A., Sweet, J., Poirier, A., Buss, J., Pound, T., & Rodd, B. (2018).
   *Veterans in Canada released since 1998: A sex-disaggregated profile* (p. 53) [Research Technical Report]. Veterans Affairs Canada, Research Directorate.

http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection 2018/acc-vac/V32-400-2018-eng.pdf

MacLean, M., Sweet, J., Mahar, A., Gould, S., & Hall, A. (2021). Health care access and use among male and female Canadian Armed Forces veterans. *Health Reports*, 32, 17–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x202100300002-eng</u>

- McCauley, H. L., Blosnich, J. R., & Dichter, M. E. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences and adult health outcomes among veteran and non-veteran women. *Journal of Women's Health*, 24(9), 723–729. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2014.4997
- McCuaig Edge, H. J., Lee, J. E. C., & Dursun, S. (2022). Correlates of perceived military-to-civilian transition challenges by medical release: An analysis of the Canadian Armed Forces transition and well-being survey. *Military Behavioral Health*, *10*(1), 37–48.

https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2021.2007183

- McLaughlin, E. C., Bartley, J., Ashe, M. C., Butt, D. A., Chilibeck, P. D., Wark, J. D., Thabane, L., Stapleton, J., & Giangregorio, L. M. (2022). The effects of Pilates on health-related outcomes in individuals with increased risk of fracture: A systematic review. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 47(4), 369–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2021-0462</u>
- Military Women's Health RIG. (2022). [The Geneva Foundation]. TriService Nursing. https://www.triservicenurse.org/military-women-s-heatlh-rig
- Minister of National Defence Advisory Panel on Systemic Racism and Discrimination. (2022). *Minister* of National Defence advisory panel on systematic racism and discrimination: With a focus on anti-indigenous and anti-black racism, LGBTQ2+ prejudice, gender bias, and white supremacy (p. 108) [Final Report]. Department of National Defence.
- Mota, N. P., Medved, M., Wang, J., Asmundson, G. J. G., Whitney, D., & Sareen, J. (2012). Stress and mental disorders in female military personnel: Comparisons between the sexes in a male dominated profession. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 46(2), 159–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.09.014
- Mota, N. P., Medved, M., Whitney, D., Hiebert-Murphy, D., & Sareen, J. (2013). Protective factors for mental disorders and psychological distress in female, compared with male, service members in a representative sample. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 58(10), 570–578. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371305801006

- Nagy Hesse-Biber, S. (Ed.). (2013). *Feminist research practice: A primer* (2nd ed.). Sage Publishing. https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/feminist-research-practice/book235577
- Naicker, K., & Hawes, R. (2020). Cervical cancer screening in the Canadian Armed Forces: An estimation of screening participation rates using the CF-HERO surveillance system. *Cancer Epidemiology*, 65, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2020.101670</u>
- Neary, P., & Brown, S. (1993). The Veterans Charter and Canadian women veterans of World War II. Political Economy Research Group. Papers in Political Economy, 35, 1–42.

Nicholson, G. W. L. (1975). Canada's nursing sisters. S. Stevens.

- Oakley, T., King, L., Ketcheson, F., & Richardson, J. D. (2020). Gender differences in clinical presentation among treatment-seeking veterans and Canadian Armed Forces personnel. *Journal* of Military, Veteran and Family Health, 6(2), 60–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2019-0045</u>
- O'Brien, K. K., Colquhoun, H., Levac, D., Baxter, L., Tricco, A. C., Straus, S., Wickerson, L., Nayar, A., Moher, D., & O'Malley, L. (2016). Advancing scoping study methodology: A web-based survey and consultation of perceptions on terminology, definition and methodological steps. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1579-z</u>
- Odorico, M. (1983). Women officers in the military: The Canadian experience [Master's thesis]. Queen's University.
- Office of the Auditor General Canada. (2016). *Report 5—Canadian Armed Forces Recruitment and Retention—National Defence* (2016 Fall Reports of the Auditor General of Canada) [Audit No. 5]. Government of Canada. https://www.oag-

bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/parl oag 201611 05 e 41834.html

Office of the Auditor General Canada. (2018). *Report 5—Inappropriate sexual behaviour—Canadian Armed Forces* (2018 Fall Reports of the Auditor General of Canada) [Independent Auditor's Report No. 5]. Government of Canada. <u>http://www.oag-</u> <u>bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/parl\_oag\_201811\_05\_e\_43203.html#</u>

- Park, R. (2021). The role and challenge for Canadian military research. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(S1), 3–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.7.s1\_002</u>
- Paynter, M., Heggie, C., McKibbon, S., Martin-Misener, R., Iftene, A., & Murphy, G. T. (2022). Sexual and reproductive health outcomes among incarcerated women in Canada: A scoping review. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 54(1), 72–86.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0844562120985988

- Pham, M. T., Rajić, A., Greig, J. D., Sargeant, J. M., Papadopoulos, A., & McEwen, S. A. (2014). A scoping review of scoping reviews: Advancing the approach and enhancing the consistency. *Research Synthesis Methods*, 5(4), 371–385. https://doi.org/10.1002/jrsm.1123
- Phoenix Strategic Perspectives Inc. (2022). Elsie Initiative barrier assessment: Results of the measuring opportunities for women in peace operations assessment for the Canadian Armed Forces (Final Report No. D2-626/1-2022E-PDF; p. 125). Department of National Defence.
- Pierson, R. (1976). Women's emancipation and the recruitment of women into the Canadian Labour Force in World War II. *Historical Papers*, *11*(1), 141–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/030808ar</u>
- Pierson, R. R. (1978). "Jill Canuck": CWAC of all trades, but no "Pistol Packing Momma." *Historical Papers / Communications Historiques*, 13(1), 106–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/030480ar</u>
- Pierson, R. R. (1979). Ladies or loose women: The Canadian Women's Army Corps in World War II. Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice, 4(2), 245–266.
- Pierson, R. R. (1981). The double bind of the double standard: VD control and the CWAC in World War II. *Canadian Historical Review*, 62(1), 31–58. https://doi.org/10.3138/CHR-062-01-03
- Pierson, R. R. (1982). Canadian women and Canadian mobilization during the Second World War. *Revue Internationale d'Histoire Militaire Ancienne*, *54*, 181–207.
- Pierson, R. R. (1983). *Canadian women and the Second World War*. The Canadian Historical Association.
- Pierson, R. R. (1986a). *They're still women after all: The Second World War and Canadian womanhood*. McClelland & Stewart.

- Pierson, R. R. (1986b). Women's emancipation and the recruitment of women into the war effort. In *The politics of diversity: Feminism, Marxism and Nationalism* (pp. 101–135, 450-59.). Verso.
- Pierson, R. R. (1988). They're still women after all: Wartime Jitters over femininity. In E. Issakson (Ed.), Women and the military system (pp. 30–46). St. Martin's Press.
- Poole, M. N. (2021). Women veterans of the Canadian Armed Forces and Royal Canadian Mounted Police: A scoping review. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 6–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0020</u>
- Poole, M., & Siew, A. (2022). The adjudication of sexual dysfunction claims consequential to an entitled psychiatric condition (No. V104-31/2022E-PDF; p. 33). Veterans Ombud. <u>https://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/en/publications/reports-reviews/adjudication-sexualdysfunction</u>
- Poulin, C., Gouliquer, L., & McCutcheon, J. (2018). Violating gender norms in the Canadian military: The experiences of gay and lesbian soldiers. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, 15(1), 60–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-017-0304-y</u>
- Poulin, C., Gouliquer, L., & Moore, J. (2009). Discharged for homosexuality from the Canadian military:
   Health implications for lesbians. *Feminism & Psychology*, *19*(4), 496–516.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0959353509342772">https://doi.org/10.1177/0959353509342772</a>
- Poulin, G. (2007). Invisible women: WWII Aboriginal servicewomen in Canada. D.G. Poulin.
- Pound, T. (2019). *Measuring veteran well-being* (p. 13) [Info Brief]. Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-vac/publications-reports/reports/sdr-</u> delivering-service-excellence
- Power, P. A. (1998). "With their feet on the ground": Women's lives and work in the Royal Canadian Air Force, 1951-1966 [Master's thesis]. University of Ottawa. https://ruor.uottawa.ca/bitstream/10393/4173/1/MQ36734.PDF
- Puranda, J. L., Silva, D. F. da, Edwards, C. M., Nagpal, T. S., Souza, S. S., Semeniuk, K., & Adamo, K.B. (2022). Association between reproductive health factors and musculoskeletal injuries in female

Canadian Armed Forces members. Journal of Women's Health.

https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2021.0647

- Quiney, L. J. (1998a). Assistant angels: Canadian voluntary aid detachment nurses in the Great War. *Canadian Bulletin of Medical History*, *15*(1), 189–206. https://doi.org/10.3138/cbmh.15.1.189
- Quiney, L. J. (1998b). "Sharing the halo": Social and professional tensions in the work of World War I Canadian volunteer nurses. *Journal of the Canadian Historical Association*, 9(1), 105–124. https://doi.org/10.7202/030494ar
- Quiney, L. J. (2002). "Assistant angels": Canadian women as voluntary aid detachment nurses during and after the Great War, 1914-1930 [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Ottawa.
- Quiney, L. J. (2018). *This small army of women: Canadian volunteer nurses and the First World War*. University of British Columbia Press.

https://press.uchicago.edu/ucp/books/book/distributed/T/bo70052269.html

- Quiney, L. J., & Landells, E. A. (1999). The military nurses of Canada: Recollections of Canadian military nurses. Vol 1. *Journal of Canadian Studies*, 34(3), 282–291.
- Redstone-Lewis, J. A. (2007). The creation of the Women's Royal Canadian Naval Service and its role in Canadian naval intelligence and communications, 1939-45 [Master's thesis]. Wilfred Laurier University.
- Robinson, S. (1985). Women in combat: The last bastion. Canadian Woman Studies, 6(4), 99–103.
- Robinson, S. (1988). The right to serve: Women and the "Combat Issue", Part 1. Forum, 3(1), 22-24.
- Scheuer, S. L. (1989). Equality of rights and the Canadian armed forces: Is there a future role for female combatants? *Defense Analysis*, 5(1), 19–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07430178908405375</u>
- Schmidt, B. R. (2012). "The greatest man-catcher of all": The first female Mounties, the media, and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. *Journal of the Canadian Historical Association*, 22(1), 201– 243. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/1008962ar</u>
- Schmidt, B. R. (2013). Contesting a Canadian icon: Female police bodies and the challenge to the masculine foundations of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police in the 1970s. In P. Gentile & J.

Nicholas (Eds.), *Contesting bodies and nation in Canadian history* (pp. 368–386). University of Toronto Press.

- Schmidt, B. R. (2014). *Women in Red Serge: Female police bodies and the disruption to the image of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police* [Doctoral dissertation]. Simon Fraser University.
- Schmidt, B. R. (2015). *Silenced: The untold story of the fight for equality in the RCMP*. Caitlin Press Inc. https://caitlin-press.com/our-books/silenced/
- Serré, L. (2019). A comparative analysis of medically released men and women from the Canadian Armed Forces. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, *5*(2), 115–124.

https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2018-0008

- Servicewomen's Salute / Hommage Aux Femmes Militaires Canada. (2022). Servicewomen's Salute portal project. <u>http://servicewomensalute.ca/453-2/</u>
- Shoemaker, M., & Hlatky, S. von. (2020). Unblurring the Lines of Responsibility: The Puzzle of Veteran Service Provision and its Gendered Implications. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 6(2), 88–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.21061/jvs.v6i2.181</u>
- Simkus, K., Hall, A., Heber, A., & VanTil, L. (2019). 2019 Veteran Suicide Mortality Study: Follow-up period from 1976-2014. Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-vac/research/research-</u> directorate/publications/reports/Veteran-suicide-mortality-study-2019
- Simkus, K., & VanTil, L. (2018). 2018 Veteran Suicide Mortality Study: Identifying risk groups at release [Technical Report]. Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-vac/research/research-</u> <u>directorate/publications/reports/Veteran-suicide-mortality-study2018</u>
- Simkus, K., VanTil, L., & Pedlar, D. (2017). 2017 Veteran Suicide Mortality Study: 1976 to 2012. Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-vac/research/research-directorate/publications/reports/vsms-2017</u>

- Simpson, S. P. (1982). The performance evaluation of women in the Canadian Forces in relation to supervisors' attitudes toward women and the theory of self-fulfilling prophecy [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Ottawa.
- Sjolander, C. T., & Trevenen, K. (2010). Constructions of nation, constructions of war: Media representations of Captain Nichola Goddard. In B. Charbonneau & W. S. Cox (Eds.), *Locating* global order: American power and Canadian security after 9/11 (Vol. 9, pp. 126–145). UBC Press.
- Skomorovsky, A., Norris, D., Martynova, E., McLaughlin, K. J., & Wan, C. (2019). Work–family conflict and parental strain among Canadian Armed Forces single mothers: The role of coping. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 5(1), 93–104. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-0033
- St Cyr, K., Aiken, A. B., Cramm, H., Whitehead, M., Kurdyak, P., & Mahar, A. L. (2021). Sex-specific differences in physical health and health services use among Canadian Veterans: A retrospective cohort study using healthcare administrative data. *BMJ Mil Health*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjmilitary-2021-001915

Statistics Canada. (2022). On guard for thee: Serving in the Canadian Armed Forces. The Daily, 1–11.

- Status of Women Canada. (2020). *What is GBA*+? [Government of Canada]. Gender-Based Analysis Plus (GBA+). https://cfc-swc.gc.ca/gba-acs/index-en.html
- Sudom, K. (2009). Moderating effects of gender in the relationship between social support and mental health (Technical Memorandum DGMPRA TM 2009-020; p. 40). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Sudom, K., Guérin, E., & Lee, J. E. C. (2021). Gender-related differences in mental health of Canadian Armed Forces members during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 46–57. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0012
- Symons, E. (1990). Under fire: Canadian women in combat. *Canadian Journal of Women & the Law*, 4(2), 477–511.

- Taber, N. (2005). Learning how to be a woman in the Canadian Forces/unlearning it through feminism: An autoethnography of my learning journey. *Studies in Continuing Education*, 27(3), 289–301. https://doi.org/10.1080/01580370500376630
- Tam-Seto, L. (2021). A framework for mentoring women in the CAF. Policy Brief: Centre for International and Defence Policy, 7(6), 1–6.
- Tam-Seto, L. (2022). Role of mentoring for women in the Canadian Armed Forces. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 26–35. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0059

Tam-Seto, L., & Dussault, S. (2022). How well is Canada serving the women who have served us? Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health, 8(1), 131–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0058</u>

Tam-Seto, L., & English, A. (2019). Need for cultural competency in the mentorship of female veterans during civilian transitions. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 5(1), 115–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-0049</u>

Tam-Seto, L., & Imre-Millei, B. (2022). Scoping review of mentorship programs for women in the military. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 15–25. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0075

The Standing Committee on the Status of Women. (2019). *A force for change: Creating a culture of equality for women in the Canadian Armed Forces* (Report of the Standing Committee on the Status of Women 42nd Parliament, 1st Session; p. 46). House of Commons Canada.

The Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defence. (2013). *Conduct becoming: Why the Royal Canadian Mounted Police must transform its culture* [Final report of the Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defence]. Senate of Canada.

https://sencanada.ca/Content/SEN/Committee/411/secd/rep/rep14jun13-e.pdf

Thompson, J. M., Groll, D., Bélanger, S. A. H., & Pedlar, D. (2022). Depth and breadth of Canadian military, Veteran and family research: The first decade of Canadian Institute for Military and

Veteran Health Research Forums. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(1), 3–6. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0086

- Thompson, J., MacLean, M. B., Roach, M., Macintosh, S., Banman, M., Mabior, J., & Pedlar, D. (2016). A well-being construct for veterans' policy, programming and research (p. 38) [VAC Research Directorate Technical Report]. Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada.
- Thompson, J. M., Pedlar, D., & MacLean, M. B. (2021). The 2018 Canadian Armed Forces members and Veterans' mental health follow-up survey: Breakthroughs, implications, and future directions. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 66(11), 937–939.

https://doi.org/10.1177/07067437211010519

- Tingelstad, H. C., Filion, L. G., Martin, J., Spivock, M., Tang, V., & Haman, F. (2018). Levels of circulating cortisol and cytokines in members of the Canadian Armed Forces: Associations with age, sex, and anthropometry. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 43(5), 445–452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2017-0551</u>
- Toman, C. (2003). "Officers and ladies": Canadian Nursing Sisters, women's work, and the Second World War [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Ottawa. <u>https://doi.org/10.20381/ruor-19562</u>
- Toman, C. (2005). Ready, aye ready: Canadian military nurses as an expandable and expendable workforce. In C. Bates, D. Dodd, & N. Rousseau (Eds.), On all frontiers: Four centuries of Canadian nursing (pp. 169–196). University of Ottawa Press.
- Toman, C. (2007). Front lines and frontiers: War as legitimate work for nurses, 1939–1945. *Histoire Sociale / Social History*, *40*(79), Article 79.
- Toman, C. (2008). An officer and a lady: Canadian military nursing and the Second World War. UBC Press.
- Toman, C. (2015). Eyewitnesses to revolution: Canadian military nurses at Petrograd, 1915–17. In One hundred years of wartime nursing practices, 1854–1953 (pp. 122–142). Manchester University Press.

- Toman, C. (2016). Sister Soldiers of the Great War: The nurses of the Canadian Army Medical Corps. UBC Press.
- Tricco, A. C., Lillie, E., Zarin, W., O'Brien, K., Colquhoun, H., Kastner, M., Levac, D., Ng, C., Sharpe, J.
  P., Wilson, K., Kenny, M., Warren, R., Wilson, C., Stelfox, H. T., & Straus, S. E. (2016). A scoping review on the conduct and reporting of scoping reviews. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0116-4
- Trudeau, J. Rt. Hon. (2021, December 16). *Minister of National Defence mandate letter*. [Mandate Letter]. <u>https://pm.gc.ca/en/mandate-letters/2021/12/16/minister-national-defence-mandate-letter</u>
- Trudeau, J. Rt. Hon. (2021a, January 15). *Minister of National Defence Supplementary Mandate Letter* [Mandate Letter]. <u>https://pm.gc.ca/en/mandate-letters/2021/01/15/minister-national-defence-supplementary-mandate-letter</u>
- Trudeau, J. Rt. Hon. (2021b, January 15). Minister of Veterans Affairs and Associate Minister of National Defence Supplementary Mandate Letter [Mandate Letter]. <u>https://pm.gc.ca/en/mandateletters/2021/01/15/minister-Veterans-affairs-and-associate-minister-national-defence</u>
- Veterans Affairs Canada. (2019a). *Delivering service excellence: A review of Veterans Affairs Canada's service delivery model* (p. 13). Government of Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-</u> <u>vac/publications-reports/reports/sdr-delivering-service-excellence</u>
- Veterans Affairs Canada. (2019b). *Women Veterans' Forum summary* (p. 22). Government of Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/pdf/about-vac/research/women-veterans-forum-2019.pdf</u>.
- Veterans Affairs Canada. (2020, March 3). Office of women and LGBTQ2 veterans [Government of Canada]. Women and LGBTQ2 Veterans. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-vac/what-wedo/women-LGBTQ2/office</u>
- Vincent, E. (2021). *Gender-focused analysis of Naval Technical Officers human resources data* (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2021-L144; p. 12). Defence Research and Development Canada.

- von Hlatky, S., & Imre-Millei, B. (2022). A gender-based analysis of recruitment and retention in the Canadian Army Reserve. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(S1), 46–53. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0080
- Waruszynski, B. T., MacEachern, K., Raby, S., Traver, M., Ouellet, E., & Makad, E. (2019). Les femmes en service dans les Forces armées canadiennes: Capacités militaires et efficacité opérationnelle renforcées. *Revue Militaire Canadienne*, 19(2), 24–33.
- Waruszynski, B. T., MacEachern, K. H., Raby, S., Straver, M., Ouellet, E., & Makadi, E. (2019). Women serving in the Canadian Armed Forces: Strengthening military capabilities and operational effectiveness. *Canadian Military Journal*, 19(2), 24–33.
- Waruszynski, B. T., & MacEachern, K. H. (2021a). Women's lived experiences of serving in the Canadian Armed Forces Primary Reserve. *Canadian Military Journal*, *21*(3), 47–52.
- Waruszynski, B. T., & MacEachern, K. H. (2021b). Women in the profession of arms: Female Primary Reserve members' perceptions on the attraction, recruitment, employment, and retention of women in the Canadian Armed Forces (Scientific Report DRDC-RDDC-2021-R122; p. 37).
   Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Waruszynski, B. T., MacEachern, K. H., & Ouellet, C. E. (2018). Women in the profession of arms: Female Regular Force members' perceptions on the attraction, recruitment, employment, and retention of women in the Canadian Armed Forces (Scientific Report DRDC-RDDC-2018-R182; p. 47). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Waruszynski, B. T., MacEachern, K. H., Raby, S., Straver, M., & Ouellet, E. (2022). Desire to serve: Insights from Canadian defence studies on the factors that influence women to pursue a military career. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 75–84. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0089
- Winslow, D., & Dunn, J. (2002). Women in the Canadian Forces: Between legal and social integration. *Current Sociology*, 50(5), 641–667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011392102050005003</u>

Yeboah-Ampadu, M. (2017). Between webs of obligation: Exploring the lived experiences of mothers serving in the Canadian Armed Forces [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Calgary. <u>https://prism.ucalgary.ca/handle/1880/106248</u>

Zwicker, D. J. A. (Donna J. A.). (1985). *Alberta women and World War Two* [Master's thesis]. University of Calgary. <u>https://doi.org/10.11575/PRISM/23710</u>

### **Appendix A: Literature Search Strategy**

Item/Task	Description
Research questions	$\underline{RQ \#1}$ : What is the state of research on servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada?
	$\underline{RQ \#2}$ : What does research tell us about servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada? How has it addressed Canadian servicewomen's and women Veterans' experiences, needs, health, and well-being?
	$\underline{RQ \#3}$ : What are the most significant research gaps in relation to knowledge about the experiences, needs, health, and well-being of servicewomen and women Veterans in Canada?
	<u>RQ#4</u> : What conceptual and ethical considerations should inform Canadian research on servicewomen and women Veterans?
Search sources	<ul> <li>Electronic university library databases<sup>1</sup>: Mount St. Vincent University, Dalhousie University, University of Waterloo, University of Alberta</li> <li>Google Scholar</li> <li>Hand searching key reference lists</li> </ul>
	• Literature identified and provided by advisory group (8 collaborators)
Search terms	Existing reviews <sup>2</sup> :
(applied combinations of search terms within each cluster to electronic databases)	<ul> <li>Canadian reviews search terms:</li> <li>Canada women Veteran AND review</li> <li>Women "Canadian Armed Forces" AND review</li> <li>women Veteran AND review</li> <li>International reviews search terms:</li> <li>Women Veteran review</li> <li>Women serving review</li> <li>Women armed forces review</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><u>Historic and contemporary research:</u> <ul> <li>Canada OR Canadian (Canad*)</li> <li>Canadian Armed Forces, military, veteran, ex-military, military personnel, military member, military service member, ex-army, exnavy, ex-air force, armed forces</li> <li>Royal Canadian Mounted Police OR RCMP</li> <li>Women, female, transgender, sex, gender, LGBT*, woman</li> <li>Nursing sister, military nurse</li> </ul> </li> <li><u>Other general searches to fill in any gaps:</u> <ul> <li>Peacekeeper women Canada</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
	"Royal Canadian Navy" women

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> University libraries were searched based on those available to team members through academic affiliation. <sup>2</sup> Includes scoping reviews, systematic reviews, literature reviews, and meta-analyses.

Item/Task	Description
	"Royal Canadian Air Force" women
	Wrens Canada CAF
Inclusion criteria	English and French language sources
	Peer-reviewed articles
	• Published research-based books and chapters (whether peer-reviewed or not)
	• Master's theses and doctoral dissertations
	• Government-led or government-contracted research that was based on original research or made original insights
Exclusion criteria	<ul> <li>Research that was not about the Canadian context, only mentions women in passing, does not offer a sex- or gender- based analysis, or if the topic related to women but does not focus on Canadian servicewomen and women Veterans (e.g. focus is on military culture broadly or military sexual trauma in general, without a focus on women)</li> <li>Grey literature, such as government reports, that were subsequently published in peer-reviewed venues (i.e., included/analyzed with the academic literature)</li> <li>Memoirs or memoir type literature such as collections of letters and historic government grey literature</li> <li>Canadian Forces College student papers</li> <li>We excluded think-pieces and first-hand accounts because our focus was on the state of Canadian <i>research</i> about serving and Veteran</li> </ul>
Search timeframe	women <u>1885-2022</u> :
	• Canadian and international reviews published on servicewomen and women Veterans
	• Historic research on servicewomen and women Veterans published between 1885-1989
	<ul> <li>Contemporary research on servicewomen and women Veterans published between 1990-2022</li> </ul>
Geographic search parameters	Prime focus: Canada
	International comparison: United States, Australia, United Kingdome, New Zealand

Appendix B: Reference List of Canadian Research on Servicewomen and Women Veterans

- Adamo, K. B. (2021a). A multi-stage approach to addressing sex-disparities in musculoskeletal injuries in military members. Report: Aim 1 Questionnaire (Report submitted to Defence Research and Development Canada No. W7714-207286/001/SV1; p. 74). University of Ottawa.
- Adamo, K. B. (2021b). A multi-stage approach to addressing sex-disparities in musculoskeletal injuries in military members. Report: Aim 2 Environmental Scan (Focus Group Sessions) (Report submitted to Defence Research and Development Canada No. W7714-207286/001/SV1; p. 67). University of Ottawa.
- Adamo, K. B. (2022). A multi-stage approach to addressing sex-disparities in musculoskeletal injuries in military members. Milestone 4: Report (Final report submitted to Defence Research and Development Canada No. W7714-207286/001/SV1; p. 284). University of Ottawa.
- Allard, G. (1996). *Les infirmières militaires canadiennes pendant la Première Guerre mondiale* [La thèse de master]. University of Laval.
- Allard, G. (2000). Des anges blancs sur le front: L'expérience de guerre des infirmières militaires canadiennes pendant la Première Guerre mondiale. *Bulletin d'histoire Politique*, 8(2–3), 119–133.
- Allard, G. (2005). Caregiving on the front: The experience of Canadian military nurses during World War
  I. In C. Bates, D. Dodd, & N. Rousseau (Eds.), *On all frontiers: Four centuries of Canadian nursing* (pp. 153–167). University of Ottawa Press.
- Barker, S., Cooke, K., & McCullough, M. (2021). Material traces of war: Stories of Canadian women and conflict, 1914–1945. University of Ottawa Press.
- Bastarache, M. Hon. (2017). Broken dreams broken lives: The devastating effects of sexual harassment on women in the RCMP [Final report on the implementation of the Merlo Davidson settlement agreement]. Royal Canadian Mounted Police. <u>https://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/en/final-report-</u> implementation-merlo-davidson-settlement-agreement
- Bates, C., Dodd, D., & Rousseau, N. (2005). Sans frontières: Quatre siècles de soins infirmiers canadiens. University of Ottawa Press.

- Beck, D. (2021). Bluebirds, bombings, and battle: Shell shock in Maritime nursing sisters of the First World War [Master's thesis]. St. Mary's University.
- Belanger, S., & Davis, K. (2010). *Transforming traditions: Women, leadership & the Canadian Navy,* 1942-2010. Canadian Defence Academy Press.
- Bird, K. (2019). Égalité des sexes, diversité et inclusion: Entre le vrai changement et une image de marque? In *Bilan du gouvernement libéral de Justin Trudeau. 353 promesses et un mandat de changement* (pp. 175–190). Presses de l'Université Laval.
- Biskupski-Mujanovic, S. (2019). Smart peacekeeping: Deploying Canadian women for a better peace? *International Journal*, 74(3), 405–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0020702019874791</u>
- Bonnardot, D. (2019). Causes et conséquences de la sous-représentation des femmes dans les opérations de paix et de sécurité: Analyse du narratif stratégique des femmes dans les Forces armées canadiennes [Dissertation doctorale].
- Bowley, P., & Wright, K. (1997). Canadian enlisted women: Gender issues in the Canadian Armed Forces before and after 1945. *Minerva*, 15(1), 9.
- Bruce, J. (1983). Canadian women in the Second World War. *Canadian Oral History Association Journal*, 6, 16–20.
- Brunet, A., Monson, E., Liu, A., & Fikretoglu, D. (2015). Trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder in the Canadian military. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 60(11), 488–496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371506001104</u>
- Buydens, S. L. (2009). *The lived experience of women veterans of the Canadian Forces* [Master's thesis]. University of Victoria.
- Chapman, K., & Eichler, M. (2014). Engendering two solitudes? Media representations of women in combat in Quebec and the rest of Canada. *International Journal*, 69(4), 594–611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0020702014543708</u>
- Comeau, L. (1990). *Women's struggle to gain equality status in the RCMP* [Master's thesis]. Carleton University. <u>https://elibrary.ru/item.asp?id=5821726</u>

Davidson, T. M. (1999). Hemlines and Hairdos: Body management for the feminine ideal in the Canadian Women's Army Corps [Master's thesis]. Lakehead University. https://knowledgecommons.lakeheadu.ca/handle/2453/3095

- Davis, K. (1997). Understanding women's exit from the Canadian Forces: Implications for integration. In
   L. L. Weinstein & C. C. White (Eds.), *Wives and warriors: Women and the military in the United States and Canada* (pp. 179–198). Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Davis, K. (2004). Research and organizational change: Women in the Canadian Forces. *The Canadian Journal of Police & Security Services*, *2*(3), 171–180.
- Davis, K. (Ed.). (2007). *Women and leadership in the Canadian Forces: Perspectives and experience*. Canadian Defence Academy Press.
- Davis, K. (2011). Media, war and gender: Considering Canadian casualties in Afghanistan. In *Security and the military between reality and perception* (pp. 63–78). Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft.
- Davis, K. (2013). Negotiating gender in the Canadian Forces 1970-1999 [Doctoral dissertation]. Royal Military College of Canada.
- Davis, K., Brundtland-Steder, F., Harvey, J., & Chewning, L. (2021). Integration of women into ground combat unit (STO Technical Report DRDC-RDDC-2021-N203). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Davis, K. D. (1994). Organizational environment and turnover: Understanding women's exit from the Canadian Forces [Master's thesis]. McGill University.
- Davis, K. D. (2009). Sex, gender and cultural intelligence in the Canadian Forces. *Commonwealth & Comparative Politics*, 47(4), 430–455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14662040903375091</u>
- Davis, K. D., & McKee, B. (2004). Women in the military: Facing the warrior framework. In F. C. Pinch,
  A. T. MacIntyre, P. Browne, & A. C. Okros (Eds.), *Challenge and change in the military: Gender and diversity issues* (pp. 52–75). Canadian Defence Academy Press.
- Désilets, V. (2021). Stéréotypes et masculinité au sein des Forces armées canadiennes: Étude qualitative du point de vue de l'attrition [La thèse de master]. Université du Québec à Rimouski.

- Dodd, D. (2017). Canadian military nurse deaths in the First World War. *Canadian Bulletin of Medical History*, *34*(2), 327–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/cbmh.34.2.131-30072014</u>
- Dundas, B. (2000a). *A history of women in the Canadian military*. Art global and Department of National Defence.
- Dundas, B. (2000b). *Les femmes dans le patrimoine militaire canadien* [Monograph]. https://publications.gc.ca/site/eng/9.889059/publication.html
- Duval-Lantoine, C. (2019). Words without deeds: A toxic culture of leadership and gender integration in the Canadian Forces, 1989-1999 [Master's thesis]. Queen's University.
- Duval-Lantoine, C. (2022). The ones we let down: Toxic leadership culture and gender integration in the Canadian Forces. McGill-Queen's Press-MQUP.
- Earnscliffe Strategy Group. (2017). *The recruitment and employment of women in the Canadian Armed Forces: Research report* (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2017-003; p. 148). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Edwards, C., da, S. D., Nagpal, T., Souza, S., Puranda, J., Semeniuk, K., & Adamo, K. B. (2022). Body regions susceptible to musculoskeletal injuries in Canadian Armed Forces pilots. *Journal of Military and Veterans Health*, 30(3), 28–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.616652516226447</u>
- Eichler, M. (2013). Women and combat in Canada: Continuing tensions between 'difference' and 'equality.' *Critical Studies on Security*, *1*(2), 257–259.
- Eichler, M. (2017). Add female veterans and stir? A feminist perspective on gendering veterans research. *Armed Forces & Society*, *43*(4), 674–694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327X16682785</u>
- Eichler, M. (2022). Making military and veteran women (in) visible: The continuity of gendered experiences in military-to-civilian transition. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 36–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0077</u>
- Eichler, M., Cramm, H., & Smith-Evans, K. (2022). *Women veterans experience with military to civilian transition* (Final Report Contract No. 3000731556; p. 51). Submitted to Veterans Affairs Canada.
- Eichler, M., & Smith-Evans, K. (2018). Gender in veteran reintegration and transition: A scoping review. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 4(1), 5–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-</u> 0004
- Eichler, M., Smith-Evans, K., Spanner, L., & Tam-Seto, L. (2021). Mind the gap: Sex, gender, and intersectionality in military-to-civilian transitions. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 19–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0018</u>
- Erickson, J., Kinley, D. J., Bolton, J. M., Zamorski, M. A., Enns, M. W., & Sareen, J. (2014). A sexspecific comparison of major depressive disorder symptomatology in the Canadian Forces and the general population. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 59(7), 393–398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371405900707</u>
- Febbraro, A. R. (2003). Women, Leadership and Gender Integration in the Canadian Combat Arms: A Qualitative Study. Defence R&D Canada.
- Febbraro, A. R. (2004). Gender and leadership in the Canadian Forces combat arms: A qualitative study of assimilation vs. integration. *Canadian Journal of Police and Security Services*, *2*(4), 215.
- Fowler, T. R. (2005). The Canadian nursing service and the British War Office: The debate over awarding the military cross, 1918. *Canadian Military History*, *14*(4), 31–42.
- Frank, C., Zamorski, M. A., Lee, J. E. C., & Colman, I. (2018). Deployment-related trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder: Does gender matter? *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 9(1), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2018.1486123</u>
- Friedman, P.-A., Schweitzer, L., & Karoles, L. (2008). The gender neutral approach of the Canadian Forces: Integrating women into the military. *International Journal of Diversity in Organisations*, *Communities & Nations*, 8(4), 69–75.
- Gauthier, A. (2022). "Long and strenuous duties in France:" Neurasthenia and nervous debility among Canadian nursing sisters during the First World War. *Canadian Military History*, *31*(1), 1–29.

- George, T. (2020). Troubling diversity and inclusion: Racialized women's experiences in the Canadian Armed Forces. Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice, 41(2), 42–56. https://doi.org/10.7202/1076199ar
- Gill, R., & Febbraro, A. R. (2013). Experiences and perceptions of sexual harassment in the Canadian Forces combat arms. *Violence Against Women*, 19(2), 269–287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801213478140</u>
- Gossage, C. (2001). *Greatcoats and glamour boots: Canadian women at war, 1939-1945* (revised edition). Dundurn.
- Gottschall, S., Lee, J. E. C., & McCuaig Edge, H. J. (2022). Adverse childhood experiences and mental health in military recruits: Exploring gender as a moderator. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 35(2), 659–670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22784</u>
- Gottschall, S., & Richer, I. (2022). Exploring gender and symptom differences in perceived barriers to mental health care among actively serving military personnel. *Military Behavioral Health*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2021.2006833</u>
- Gouliquer, L. (2000). Negotiating sexuality: Lesbians in the Canadian military. In *Women's bodies, women's lives: Health, well-being and body image* (pp. 254–276). Sumach Press.
- Gouliquer, L. (2001). Women and the Canadian military. *Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice*, *26*(1), 31–33.
- Gouliquer, L., Poulin, C., & Moore, J. (2018). A threat to Canadian national security: A lesbian soldier's story. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *15*(2/3), 323–335.

Gouliquer, M. L. (2011). Soldiering in the Canadian Forces: How and why gender counts! [Doctoral dissertation]. McGill University. <u>https://escholarship.mcgill.ca/concern/theses/t148fh453</u>

Gray, S. L. (2008). Discontinuing the Canadian military's 'special selection' process for staff college and moving toward a viable and ethical integration of women into the Senior Officer Corps. *Journal* of Military Ethics, 7(4), 284–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15027570802510007</u>

- Guerin, E., & Howe, D. (2021). *Summary of challenges and barriers for women in the CAF* (Scientific Brief DRDC-RDDC-2021-B055; p. 16). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Gusse, I. (2014). Égalitarisme dans l'armée canadienne? Quand le féminin se calque sur masculine. In Des femmes et des hommes singuliers: Perspectives croisées sur le devenir sexué des individus en démocratie (pp. 203–228). Armand Colin.
- Hachey, K. K., Sudom, K., Sweet, J., Thompson, J. M., MacLean, M. B., & VanTil, L. (2016).
  Differences in adjustment to civilian life between male and female Canadian Armed Forces veterans. *Veterans & Families Research Hub, 2, Women in the Military, Part Two*, 1–12.
- Hajizadeh, M., Aiken, A., & Cox, C. (2019). Risk factors associated with sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Does it vary by sex and environmental command? *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 48(8), 2581–2594. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-019-01507-x
- Hall, A. L., Sweet, J., Tweel, M., & MacLean, M. B. (2022). Comparing negative health indicators in male and female veterans with the Canadian general population. *BMJ Mil Health*, *168*(1), 82–87. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjmilitary-2020-001526
- Hards, D. (1994). "We are the girls behind the boys behind the guns:" Military Women and the Canadian Armed Forces [Master's thesis]. Carleton University.
- Hassan, M. (2017). Making "space" for women in Canadian peacekeeping: The battle of closing the gap [Master's thesis]. University of British Columbia. <u>https://doi.org/10.14288/1.0362412</u>
- Hogenbirk, S. (2017). Women inside the Canadian Military, 1938-1966 [Doctoral dissertation]. Carleton University.
- Innovation Hub Privy Council Office. (2017). *Behavioural Insights Project: Increasing recruitment of women into the Canadian Armed Forces* (Behavioural Insights Project). Government of Canada.
- Karmas, L.-M. A. (1984). Trial employment of Canadian forces servicewomen in a combat service support unit [Master's thesis]. University of British Columbia. https://doi.org/10.14288/1.0096352

- Kitchen, B. L. (2004). Ma'am, yes ma'am: Gender relations and institutional change in the Royal Newfoundland Regiment [Master's thesis]. Memorial University.
- Kovitz, M. (2000). The enemy within: Female soldiers in the Canadian Armed Forces. *Canadian Woman Studies*, *19*(4), 36–41.
- Lane, A. (2020). Women in the Canadian Armed Forces. In T. Juneau, P. Lagassé, & S. Vucetic (Eds.), Canadian Defence Policy in Theory and Practice (pp. 351–364). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-26403-1\_20</u>
- Lermitte, J. (2017). The call to duty: Representations of Canadian WWI nurses in contemporary Canadian literature. In *Conflicts, Confrontations, Combats. Canada in the Face of Wars* (pp. 52–63).
- Linden, R. (1985). Attrition among male and female members of the RCMP. *Canadian Police College Journal*, *9*(1), 86–103.
- Lipton, S. (2017). She also served: Bringing to light the contributions of the Canadian Jewish servicewomen of the World War II. *Canadian Jewish Studies*, *25*(1), 93–116. https://doi.org/10.25071/1916-0925.40016
- MacKenzie, M., & Gunaydin, E. (2022). Does raising the combat exclusion lead to equality? Measuring the recruitment, retention and promotion of women in Canada and New Zealand's defence forces. *Journal of Military and Strategic Studies*, 21(2), 107–152.
- MacLean, M. B., Clow, B., Ralling, A., Sweet, J., Poirier, A., Buss, J., Pound, T., & Rodd, B. (2018).
   *Veterans in Canada released since 1998: A sex-disaggregated profile* (p. 53) [Research Technical Report]. Veterans Affairs Canada, Research Directorate.

http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection 2018/acc-vac/V32-400-2018-eng.pdf

- MacLean, M., Sweet, J., Mahar, A., Gould, S., & Hall, A. (2021). Health care access and use among male and female Canadian Armed Forces veterans. *Health Reports*, 32, 17–22. https://doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x202100300002-eng
- Mann, S. (2001). Where have all the bluebirds gone? On the trail of Canada's military nurses, 1914-1918. Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice, 26(1), 35–44.

- McCristall, P. (2020). *(In)visible systemic injustice: A qualitative inquiry into women's experiences of gender discrimination in the Canadian military* [Doctoral dissertation]. Queen's University.
- McCristall, P., & Baggaley, K. (2019). The progressions of a gendered military: A theoretical examination of gender inequality in the Canadian military. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 5(1), 119–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-0026</u>
- Morin, M. (2005). Lire entre les lignes: Témoignages d'infirmières militaires canadiennes en service outre-mer pendant la Prèmiere Guerre mondiale [La thèse de master]. Moncton.

Morin-Pelletier, M. (2006). Briser les ailes de l'ange: Les infirmières militaires canadiennes. Athena.

- Morin-Pelletier, M. (2009a). Des oiseaux bleus chez les Poilus: Les infirmières des hôpitaux militaires canadiens-français postés en France, 1915-1919. *Bulletin d'histoire Politique*, *17*(2), 57–74.
- Morin-Pelletier, M. (2009b). *Héritières de la Grande Guerre: Les infirmières militaires canadiennes durant l'entre-deux-guerres* [Dissertation doctorale]. <u>https://ruor.uottawa.ca/handle/10393/29991</u>
- Mota, N. (2014). *The experiences of female members in the Canadian Military* [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Manitoba.
- Mota, N. P., Medved, M., Wang, J., Asmundson, G. J. G., Whitney, D., & Sareen, J. (2012). Stress and mental disorders in female military personnel: Comparisons between the sexes in a male dominated profession. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 46(2), 159–167.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.09.014

Mota, N. P., Medved, M., Whitney, D., Hiebert-Murphy, D., & Sareen, J. (2013). Protective factors for mental disorders and psychological distress in female, compared with male, service members in a representative sample. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 58(10), 570–578.

https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371305801006

Naicker, K., & Hawes, R. (2020). Cervical cancer screening in the Canadian Armed Forces: An estimation of screening participation rates using the CF-HERO surveillance system. *Cancer Epidemiology*, 65, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2020.101670</u>

- Neary, P., & Brown, S. (1993). The Veterans Charter and Canadian women veterans of World War II. Political Economy Research Group. Papers in Political Economy, 35, 1–42.
- Newell, M. L. (1996). "Led by the spirit of humanity": Canadian military nursing, 1914-1929 [Master's thesis]. University of Ottawa. <u>https://doi.org/10.20381/ruor-8193</u>

Nicholson, G. W. L. (1975). Canada's nursing sisters. S. Stevens.

- Oakley, T., King, L., Ketcheson, F., & Richardson, J. D. (2020). Gender differences in clinical presentation among treatment-seeking veterans and Canadian Armed Forces personnel. *Journal* of Military, Veteran and Family Health, 6(2), 60–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2019-0045</u>
- Odorico, M. (1983). Women officers in the military: The Canadian experience [Master's thesis]. Queen's University.
- Pahl, P. S. (2019). Women and job satisfaction in today's Canadian Armed Forces' climate. *BU Journal* of Graduate Studies in Education, 11(1), 4–8.
- Peach, J. M. (2019). Socio-demographic differences in financial strain and satisfaction in the Canadian Armed Forces. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 5(S1), 29–42. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.5.s1.2018-0024
- Phoenix Strategic Perspectives Inc. (2022). Elsie Initiative barrier assessment: Results of the measuring opportunities for women in peace operations assessment for the Canadian Armed Forces (Final Report No. D2-626/1-2022E-PDF; p. 125). Department of National Defence.
- Pierotti, J. (2020a). Barriers to women in the Canadian Armed Forces. *Canadian Military Journal*, 20(4), 12.
- Pierotti, J. (2020b). Les obstacles dressés devant les femmes dans les Forces armées canadiennes. *Revue Militaire Canadienne*, 20(4), 20–31.
- Pierson, R. (1976). Women's emancipation and the recruitment of women into the Canadian Labour Force in World War II. *Historical Papers*, *11*(1), 141–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/030808ar</u>
- Pierson, R. R. (1978). "Jill Canuck": CWAC of all trades, but no "Pistol Packing Momma." *Historical Papers / Communications Historiques*, 13(1), 106–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/030480ar</u>

- Pierson, R. R. (1979). Ladies or loose women: The Canadian Women's Army Corps in World War II. Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice, 4(2), 245–266.
- Pierson, R. R. (1981). The double bind of the double standard: VD control and the CWAC in World War II. *Canadian Historical Review*, 62(1), 31–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/CHR-062-01-03</u>
- Pierson, R. R. (1982). Canadian women and Canadian mobilization during the Second World War. *Revue Internationale d'Histoire Militaire Ancienne*, *54*, 181–207.
- Pierson, R. R. (1983). *Canadian women and the Second World War*. The Canadian Historical Association.
- Pierson, R. R. (1986a). *They're still women after all: The Second World War and Canadian womanhood*. McClelland & Stewart.
- Pierson, R. R. (1986b). Women's emancipation and the recruitment of women into the war effort. In *The politics of diversity: Feminism, Marxism and Nationalism* (pp. 101–135, 450-59.). Verso.
- Pierson, R. R. (1988). They're still women after all: Wartime Jitters over femininity. In E. Issakson (Ed.),*Women and the military system* (pp. 30–46). St. Martin's Press.
- Poirier, K. A. (2021). L'expérience institutionnelle des femmes qui font carrière au sein des Forces armées canadiennes: Comment expliquer leur manque d'accès aux postes névralgiques? [La thèse de master]. Université de Montréal.

https://papyrus.bib.umontreal.ca/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1866/25845/Poirier\_Kary-Anne\_2021\_memoire.pdf?sequence=4&isAllowed=y

- Poole, M. N. (2021). Women veterans of the Canadian Armed Forces and Royal Canadian Mounted Police: A scoping review. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 6–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0020</u>
- Poole, M., & Siew, A. (2022). The adjudication of sexual dysfunction claims consequential to an entitled psychiatric condition (No. V104-31/2022E-PDF; p. 33). Veterans Ombud. <u>https://www.ombudsman-veterans.gc.ca/en/publications/reports-reviews/adjudication-sexualdysfunction</u>

- Poulin, C., Gouliquer, L., & McCutcheon, J. (2018). Violating gender norms in the Canadian military: The experiences of gay and lesbian soldiers. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, 15(1), 60–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-017-0304-y
- Poulin, C., Gouliquer, L., & Moore, J. (2009). Discharged for homosexuality from the Canadian military: Health implications for lesbians. *Feminism & Psychology*, *19*(4), 496–516.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0959353509342772">https://doi.org/10.1177/0959353509342772</a>
- Poulin, G. (2007). Invisible women: WWII Aboriginal servicewomen in Canada. D.G. Poulin.
- Power, P. A. (1998). "With their feet on the ground": Women's lives and work in the Royal Canadian Air Force, 1951-1966 [Master's thesis]. University of Ottawa. <u>https://ruor.uottawa.ca/bitstream/10393/4173/1/MQ36734.PDF</u>
- Power Shiner, N. (1998). "In the best interest of the service": RCAF flight nurses as the "new woman", 1945-1959 [Master's thesis]. Dalhousie University. <u>https://central.bac-</u> lac.gc.ca/.item?id=MQ36531&op=pdf&app=Library&oclc\_number=45003149
- Preston, R., & de Chastelaine, A. J. G. D. (1992). Les femmes au RMC. In Au service du Canada: Histoire du Royal Military College depuis la Deuxième Guerre Mondiale (pp. 197-). Les Presses de l'Université d'Ottawa.
- Puranda, J. L., Silva, D. F. da, Edwards, C. M., Nagpal, T. S., Souza, S. S., Semeniuk, K., & Adamo, K.
  B. (2022). Association between reproductive health factors and musculoskeletal injuries in female Canadian Armed Forces members. *Journal of Women's Health*.

https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2021.0647

- Quiney, L. J. (1998a). Assistant angels: Canadian voluntary aid detachment nurses in the Great War. *Canadian Bulletin of Medical History*, *15*(1), 189–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/cbmh.15.1.189</u>
- Quiney, L. J. (1998b). "Sharing the halo": Social and professional tensions in the work of World War I Canadian volunteer nurses. *Journal of the Canadian Historical Association*, 9(1), 105–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/030494ar</u>

- Quiney, L. J. (2002). "Assistant angels": Canadian women as voluntary aid detachment nurses during and after the Great War, 1914-1930 [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Ottawa.
- Quiney, L. J. (2018). *This small army of women: Canadian volunteer nurses and the First World War*. University of British Columbia Press.

https://press.uchicago.edu/ucp/books/book/distributed/T/bo70052269.html

- Quiney, L. J., & Landells, E. A. (1999). The military nurses of Canada: Recollections of Canadian military nurses. Vol 1. *Journal of Canadian Studies*, 34(3), 282–291.
- Quinn, S. M. (2010). Agnes Warner and the nursing sisters of the Great War. Goose Lane Editions.
- Rafuse, S. H. (2004). *Pushing the boundaries: Canadian women's experiences in World War II* [Master's thesis]. University of Toronto.
- Redstone-Lewis, J. A. (2007). The creation of the Women's Royal Canadian Naval Service and its role in Canadian naval intelligence and communications, 1939-45 [Master's thesis]. Wilfred Laurier University.
- Renke, D. (2019). "Oh! It's all one big happy time": Examining the emotional experiences of Canadian servicewomen during the Second World War [Master's thesis]. University of Lethbridge.
- Robinson, S. (1985). Women in combat: The last bastion. *Canadian Woman Studies*, 6(4), 99–103.
- Robinson, S. (1988). The right to serve: Women and the "Combat Issue", Part 1. Forum, 3(1), 22-24.
- Scheuer, S. L. (1989). Equality of rights and the Canadian armed forces: Is there a future role for female combatants? *Defense Analysis*, 5(1), 19–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07430178908405375</u>
- Schmidt, B. R. (2012). "The greatest man-catcher of all": The first female Mounties, the media, and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. *Journal of the Canadian Historical Association*, 22(1), 201– 243. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/1008962ar</u>
- Schmidt, B. R. (2013). Contesting a Canadian icon: Female police bodies and the challenge to the masculine foundations of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police in the 1970s. In P. Gentile & J. Nicholas (Eds.), *Contesting bodies and nation in Canadian history* (pp. 368–386). University of Toronto Press.

- Schmidt, B. R. (2014). *Women in Red Serge: Female police bodies and the disruption to the image of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police* [Doctoral dissertation]. Simon Fraser University.
- Schmidt, B. R. (2015). *Silenced: The untold story of the fight for equality in the RCMP*. Caitlin Press Inc. https://caitlin-press.com/our-books/silenced/
- Scoppio, G., Otis, N., Yan, Y. (Lizzie), & Hogenkamp, S. (2022). Experiences of Officer Cadets in Canadian Military colleges and civilian universities: A gender perspective. *Armed Forces & Society*, 48(1), 49–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327X20905121</u>
- Serré, L. (2019). A comparative analysis of medically released men and women from the Canadian Armed Forces. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 5(2), 115–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2018-0008</u>
- Shoemaker, M., & Hlatky, S. von. (2020). Unblurring the Lines of Responsibility: The Puzzle of Veteran Service Provision and its Gendered Implications. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 6(2), 88–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.21061/jvs.v6i2.181</u>
- Simpson, S. P. (1982). The performance evaluation of women in the Canadian Forces in relation to supervisors' attitudes toward women and the theory of self-fulfilling prophecy [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Ottawa.
- Simpson, S., Toole, D., & Player, C. (1979). Women in the Canadian Forces: Past, present and future. *Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice*, 4(2), 267–283.
- Sjolander, C. T., & Trevenen, K. (2010). Constructions of nation, constructions of war: Media representations of Captain Nichola Goddard. In B. Charbonneau & W. S. Cox (Eds.), *Locating* global order: American power and Canadian security after 9/11 (Vol. 9, pp. 126–145). UBC Press.
- Skomorovsky, A., Norris, D., Martynova, E., McLaughlin, K. J., & Wan, C. (2019). Work–family conflict and parental strain among Canadian Armed Forces single mothers: The role of coping. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 5(1), 93–104. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-0033

- St Cyr, K., Aiken, A. B., Cramm, H., Whitehead, M., Kurdyak, P., & Mahar, A. L. (2021). Sex-specific differences in physical health and health services use among Canadian Veterans: A retrospective cohort study using healthcare administrative data. *BMJ Mil Health*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjmilitary-2021-001915
- Sudom, K. (2009). Moderating effects of gender in the relationship between social support and mental health (Technical Memorandum DGMPRA TM 2009-020; p. 40). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Sudom, K., Guérin, E., & Lee, J. E. C. (2021). Gender-related differences in mental health of Canadian Armed Forces members during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 46–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0012</u>
- Symons, E. (1990). Under fire: Canadian women in combat. *Canadian Journal of Women & the Law*, 4(2), 477–511.
- Taber, N. (2005). Learning how to be a woman in the Canadian Forces/unlearning it through feminism: An autoethnography of my learning journey. *Studies in Continuing Education*, 27(3), 289–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01580370500376630</u>
- Taber, N. (2011). 'You better not get pregnant while you're here': Tensions between masculinities and femininities in military communities of practice. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 30(3), 331–348. https://doi.org/10.1080/02601370.2011.570871
- Tam-Seto, L. (2021). A framework for mentoring women in the CAF. *Policy Brief: Centre for International and Defence Policy*, 7(6), 1–6.
- Tam-Seto, L. (2022). Role of mentoring for women in the Canadian Armed Forces. Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health, 8(s1), 26–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0059</u>
- Tam-Seto, L., & Dussault, S. (2022). How well is Canada serving the women who have served us? Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health, 8(1), 131–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0058</u>

- Tam-Seto, L., & English, A. (2019). Need for cultural competency in the mentorship of female veterans during civilian transitions. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 5(1), 115–118. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-0049
- Tam-Seto, L., & Imre-Millei, B. (2022). Scoping review of mentorship programs for women in the military. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 15–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0075</u>
- The Standing Committee on the Status of Women. (2019). *A force for change: Creating a culture of equality for women in the Canadian Armed Forces* (Report of the Standing Committee on the Status of Women 42nd Parliament, 1st Session; p. 46). House of Commons Canada.
- Tingelstad, H. C., Filion, L. G., Martin, J., Spivock, M., Tang, V., & Haman, F. (2018). Levels of circulating cortisol and cytokines in members of the Canadian Armed Forces: Associations with age, sex, and anthropometry. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 43(5), 445–452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2017-0551</u>
- Toman, C. (2003). "Officers and ladies": Canadian Nursing Sisters, women's work, and the Second World War [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Ottawa. <u>https://doi.org/10.20381/ruor-19562</u>
- Toman, C. (2005). Ready, aye ready: Canadian military nurses as an expandable and expendable workforce. In C. Bates, D. Dodd, & N. Rousseau (Eds.), On all frontiers: Four centuries of Canadian nursing (pp. 169–196). University of Ottawa Press.
- Toman, C. (2007). Front lines and frontiers: War as legitimate work for nurses, 1939–1945. *Histoire Sociale / Social History*, *40*(79), Article 79.
- Toman, C. (2008). An officer and a lady: Canadian military nursing and the Second World War. UBC Press.
- Toman, C. (2015). Eyewitnesses to revolution: Canadian military nurses at Petrograd, 1915–17. In One hundred years of wartime nursing practices, 1854–1953 (pp. 122–142). Manchester University Press.

- Toman, C. (2016). Sister Soldiers of the Great War: The nurses of the Canadian Army Medical Corps. UBC Press.
- Tremblay, Y. (2019). Quelques aspects du licenciement des membres de la Division féminine de l'Aviation royale du Canada, 1942-1947. *Bulletin d'histoire Politique*, *27*(2), 158–176.
- Vincent, E. (2021). *Gender-focused analysis of Naval Technical Officers human resources data* (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2021-L144; p. 12). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- von Hlatky, S. (2019). The gender perspective and Canada's Armed Forces. In R. Egnell & M. Alam (Eds.), *Women and gender perspectives in the military: An international comparison* (pp. 73–86). Georgetown University Press.
- von Hlatky, S., & Imre-Millei, B. (2022). A gender-based analysis of recruitment and retention in the Canadian Army Reserve. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(S1), 46–53. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0080
- Wagner, S. (2020). Many places, many problems: Canadian First World War military nursing sisters in the Mediterranean [Master's thesis]. University of Alberta.
- Waruszynski, B. T., MacEachern, K., Raby, S., Traver, M., Ouellet, E., & Makad, E. (2019). Les femmes en service dans les Forces armées canadiennes: Capacités militaires et efficacité opérationnelle renforcées. *Revue Militaire Canadienne*, 19(2), 24–33.
- Waruszynski, B. T., & MacEachern, K. H. (2021a). Women's lived experiences of serving in the Canadian Armed Forces Primary Reserve. *Canadian Military Journal*, 21(3), 47–52.
- Waruszynski, B. T., & MacEachern, K. H. (2021b). Women in the profession of arms: Female Primary Reserve members' perceptions on the attraction, recruitment, employment, and retention of women in the Canadian Armed Forces (Scientific Report DRDC-RDDC-2021-R122; p. 37).
  Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Waruszynski, B. T., MacEachern, K. H., & Ouellet, C. E. (2018). Women in the profession of arms: Female Regular Force members' perceptions on the attraction, recruitment, employment, and

*retention of women in the Canadian Armed Forces* (Scientific Report DRDC-2018-R182; p. 47). Defence Research and Development Canada.

- Waruszynski, B. T., MacEachern, K. H., Raby, S., Straver, M., & Ouellet, E. (2022). Desire to serve: Insights from Canadian defence studies on the factors that influence women to pursue a military career. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 75–84. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0089
- Waruszynski, B. T., MacEachern, K. H., Raby, S., Straver, M., Ouellet, E., & Makadi, E. (2019). Women serving in the Canadian Armed Forces: Strengthening military capabilities and operational effectiveness. *Canadian Military Journal*, 19(2), 24–33.
- Winslow, D., & Dunn, J. (2002). Women in the Canadian Forces: Between legal and social integration. *Current Sociology*, 50(5), 641–667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011392102050005003</u>
- Winters, B. (1996). The Wrens of the Second World War: Their place in the history of Canadian servicewomen. In Michael L. Hadley & Rob Huebert (Eds.), A nation's navy: In quest of Canadian naval identity (pp. 280–296). McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Yeboah-Ampadu, M. (2017). Between webs of obligation: Exploring the lived experiences of mothers serving in the Canadian Armed Forces [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Calgary. https://prism.ucalgary.ca/handle/1880/106248
- Zwicker, D. J. A. (Donna J. A.). (1985). *Alberta women and World War Two* [Master's thesis]. University of Calgary. <u>https://doi.org/10.11575/PRISM/23710</u>

## **Appendix C: Reference List of International Reviews on Servicewomen and Women Veterans**

Bajjani-Gebara, J., Wilcox, S. L., Williams, J. W., Kosinski, A. S., Allard, R. J., Wilson, C., & Landoll, R. (2021). Adjustment Disorder in the US active duty military women: A scoping review for the years 2000 to 2018. *Women's Health Issues*, *31*(Supplement 1), S33–S42.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2020.12.003

- Barbeau, P., Michaud, A., Hamel, C., Rice, D., Skidmore, B., Hutton, B., PhD, Garritty, C., MSc, da Silva, D. F., PhD, Semeniuk, K., MSc, & Adamo, K. B., PhD. (2021). Musculoskeletal injuries among females in the military: A scoping review. *Military Medicine*, *186*(9–10), e903–e931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usaa555</u>
- Bartlett, B. A., & Mitchell, K. S. (2015). Eating disorders in military and veteran men and women: A systematic review. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 48(8), 1057–1069. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22454</u>
- Bean-Mayberry, B., Huang, C., Batuman, F., Goldzweig, C., Washington, D. L., Yano, E. M., & Miake-Lye, I. M. (2010). Systematic review of women veterans health research 2004–2008. Department of Veterans Affairs (US). <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK49179/</u>
- Bean-Mayberry, B., Yano, E. M., Washington, D. L., Goldzweig, C., Batuman, F., Huang, C., Miake-Lye, I., & Shekelle, P. G. (2011). Systematic review of women veterans' health: Update on successes and gaps. *Women's Health Issues*, 21(4 Suppl), S84-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2011.04.022
- Braun, L. A., Kennedy, H. P., Womack, J. A., & Wilson, C. (2016). Integrative literature review: U.S. military women's genitourinary and reproductive health. *Military Medicine*, 181(1), 35–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-15-00242</u>
- Braun, L. A., Kostas-Polston, E. A., Miedema, J., Hoffecker, L., & Wilson, C. (2021). A scoping review of cervical cancer risk factors, prevention, diagnosis, and treatment in U.S. active duty military women. *Women's Health Issues*, 31, S53–S65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2021.04.003</u>

- Byrne, T., Montgomery, A. E., & Dichter, M. E. (2013). Homelessness among female veterans: A systematic review of the literature. *Women & Health*, 53(6), 572–596. https://doi.org/10.1080/03630242.2013.817504
- Carter, A., Borrero, S., Wessel, C., Washington, D. L., Bean-Mayberry, B., Corbelli, J., Batch, B. C., Breland, J. Y., DiLeone, B., Foynes, M. M., Keene, R., Hausmann, L., Mattocks, K., Mengeling, M., Moreland, L., Nsiah-Kumi, P., Uchendu, U., West, S. K., Williams, K. P., & Zickmund, S. (2016). Racial and ethnic health care disparities among women in the Veterans Affairs healthcare system: A systematic review. *Women's Health Issues*, *26*(4), 401–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2016.03.009
- Cawkill, P., Rogers, A., Knight, S., & Spear, L. (2009). Women in ground close combat roles: The experiences of other nations and a review of the academic literature (Literature Review DSTL/CR37770 V3-0; p. 68). Defence Science and Technology Laboratory UK.
- Conard, P. L., & Sauls, D. J. (2014). Deployment and PTSD in the female combat veteran: A systematic review. *Nursing Forum*, 49(1), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12049</u>
- Creech, S. K., Pulverman, C. S., Crawford, J. N., Holliday, R., Monteith, L. L., Lehavot, K., Olson-Madden, J., & Kelly, U. A. (2021). Clinical complexity in women veterans: A systematic review of the recent evidence on mental health and physical health comorbidities. *Behavioral Medicine*, 47(1), 69–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2019.1644283</u>
- Crompvoets, S. (2011). The health and wellbeing of female veterans: A review of the literature. *Journal* of Military and Veterans' Health, 19(2), 25–31.

https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.682278803985396

Danan, E., Krebs, E., Ensrud, K., Koeller, E., Macdonald, R., Velasquez, T., Greer, N., & Wilt, T. (2017).
 An evidence map of the women veterans' health research literature (2008–2015). *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 32(12), 1359–1376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-017-4152-5</u>

- Dodds, C. D., & Kiernan, M. D. (2019). Hidden veterans: A review of the literature on women veterans in contemporary society. *Illness, Crisis & Loss, 27*(4), 293–310. https://doi.org/10.1177/1054137319834775
- Englert, R. M., & Yablonsky, A. M. (2019). Scoping review and gap analysis of research related to the health of women in the U.S. military, 2000 to 2015. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing*, 48(1), 5–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogn.2018.10.009</u>
- Farwell, A. L. (2017). Integrative review of breastfeeding duration and influencing factors among women serving active duty in the U.S. military. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing*, 46(2), 171–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogn.2016.10.011</u>
- Finlay, A. K., Owens, M. D., Taylor, E., Nash, A., Capdarest-Arest, N., Rosenthal, J., Blue-Howells, J., Clark, S., & Timko, C. (2019). A scoping review of military veterans involved in the criminal justice system and their health and healthcare. *Health & Justice*, 7(1), 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-019-0086-9
- Goldzweig, C. L., Balekian, T. M., Rolón, C., Yano, E. M., & Shekelle, P. G. (2006). The state of women veterans' health research. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21(3), S82–S92. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00380.x
- Holt, K., Grindlay, K., Taskier, M., & Grossman, D. (2011). Unintended pregnancy and contraceptive use among women in the U.S. military: A systematic literature review. *Military Medicine*, 176(9), 1056–1064. <u>https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-11-00012</u>
- Hopkins, D., Wilson, C., & Allard, R. (2021). Sexually transmitted infections in US military women: A scoping review 2000-2018. *Women's Health Issues*, 31(S1), S43–S52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2021.01.004
- Iobst, S. E., Smith, D. C., Best, N. I., Allard, R. J., & Trego, L. L. (2021). A scoping review of pregnancy, childbirth, and the postpartum period in active duty U. S. military women. *Women's Health Issues*, 31, S81–S92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2020.05.005</u>

- Iobst, S., Trego, L., & Siaki, L. A. (2019). A scoping review of sleep health and disordered sleep in active duty US military women. <u>https://doi.org/10.17605/OSF.IO/SH7TG</u>
- Iovine-Wong, P. E., Nichols-Hadeed, C., Thompson Stone, J., Gamble, S., Cross, W., Cerulli, C., & Levandowski, B. A. (2019). Intimate partner violence, suicide, and their overlapping risk in women veterans: A review of the literature. *Military Medicine*, 184(5–6), e201–e210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usy355</u>
- Jones, G. L., & Hanley, T. (2017). The psychological health and well-being experiences of female military veterans: A systematic review of the qualitative literature. *BMJ Military Health*, 163(5), 311–318. https://doi.org/10.1136/jramc-2016-000705
- Katon, J. G., Zephyrin, L., Meoli, A., Hulugalle, A., Bosch, J., Callegari, L., Galvan, I. V., Gray, K. E., Haeger, K. O., Hoffmire, C., Levis, S., Ma, E. W., Mccabe, J. E., Nillni, Y. I., Pineles, S. L., Reddy, S. M., Savitz, D. A., Shaw, J. G., & Patton, E. W. (2018). Reproductive health of women veterans: A systematic review of the literature from 2008 to 2017. *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine*, *36*(6), 315–322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0039-1678750</u>
- Kim, L. H., Quon, J. L., Sun, F. W., Wortman, K. M., Adamson, M. M., & Harris, O. A. (2018). Traumatic brain injury among female veterans: A review of sex differences in military neurosurgery. *Neurosurgical Focus*, 45(6), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3171/2018.9.FOCUS18369</u>
- Kwan, J., Sparrow, K., Facer-Irwin, E., Thandi, G., Fear, N. T., & MacManus, D. (2020). Prevalence of intimate partner violence perpetration among military populations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 53, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2020.101419</u>

Lacks, M. H., Lamson, A. L., Rappleyea, D. L., Russoniello, C. V., & Littleton, H. L. (2017). A

- systematic review of the biopsychosocial–spiritual health of active duty women. *Military Psychology*, 29(6), 570–580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/mil0000176</u>
- Lawrence-Wood, E., Kumar, S., Crompvoets, S., Fosh, B. G., Rahmanian, H., Jones, L., & Neuhaus, S. (2016). A systematic review of the impacts of active military service on sexual and reproductive

health outcomes among servicewomen and female veterans of armed forces. *Journal of Military* and Veterans' Health, 24(3), 34–56.

Mark, K., McNamara, K., Gribble, R., Rhead, R., Sharp, M.-L., Stevelink, S., Schwartz, A., Castro, C., & Fear, N. (2019). The health and well-being of LGBTQ serving and ex-serving personnel: A narrative review. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 31, 1–20.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2019.1575190

McBratney, M. A. (2018). Barriers to treatment for women veterans who have survived military sexual trauma seeking mental health services within the VA: A review of the literature [Doctoral dissertation]. Azusa Pacific University.

https://www.proquest.com/openview/6930c88d4e5281b9b36d04cb28a70d4f/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

- Middleton, K., & Craig, C. D. (2012). A systematic literature review of PTSD among female veterans from 1990 to 2010. *Social Work in Mental Health*, 10(3), 233–252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2011.639929</u>
- Mukhina, N. A., & Evdokimov, V. I. (2014). Military sexual trauma as a risk factor for posttraumatic stress disorder in US women veterans (literature review). (In Russian). *Medico-Biological and Socio-Psychological Problems of Safety in Emergency Situations*, 0(3), Article 3.

https://doi.org/10.25016/2541-7487-2014-0-3-84-93

New Zealand Ministry of Defence. (2014). *Maximising opportunities for military women in the New Zealand Defence Force*. Ministry of Defence, Evaluation Division.

Niessen-Derry, C. (2015). How equine-facilitated psychotherapy addresses military sexual trauma among female veterans: Systematic review [Master of Social Work Clinical Research Paper]. St. Catherine University and the University of St. Thomas.

Orshak, J., Alexander, L., Gilmore-Bykovskyi, A., & Lauver, D. (2022). Interventions for women veterans with mental health care needs: Findings from a scoping review. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 43(6), 516–527. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01612840.2021.2011506</u>

- Phillips, A. K., & Lynn, A. B. (2021). Scoping review on menstrual suppression among U.S. military service members. *Military Medicine*, 187(3–4), e329–e337. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usab200
- Pulverman, C. S., Christy, A. Y., & Kelly, U. A. (2019). Military sexual trauma and sexual health in women veterans: A systematic review. *Sexual Medicine Reviews*, 7(3), 393–407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sxmr.2019.03.002</u>
- Pulverman, C. S., & Creech, S. K. (2021). The impact of sexual trauma on the sexual health of women veterans: A comprehensive review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 22*(4), 656–671. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838019870912
- Randolph, B. J., Nelson, L. M., & Highsmith, M. J. (2016). A review of unique considerations for female veterans with amputation. *Military Medicine*, 181(S4), 66–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-</u> <u>D-16-00262</u>
- Reis, J., & Menezes, S. (2020). Gender inequalities in the military service: A systematic literature review. Sexuality & Culture, 24(3), 1004–1018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-019-09662-y</u>
- Rosebrock, L., & Carroll, R. (2017). Sexual function in female veterans: A review. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, *43*(3), 228–245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2016.1141822</u>
- Runnals, J. J., Garovoy, N., McCutcheon, S. J., Robbins, A. T., Mann-Wrobel, M. C., Elliott, A., & Strauss, J. L. (2014). Systematic review of women veterans' mental health. *Women's Health Issues*, 24(5), 485–502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2014.06.012</u>
- Schram, B., Canetti, E., Orr, R., & Pope, R. (2022a). Injury rates in female and male military personnel: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Women's Health*, 22, 2–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-022-01899-4
- Schram, B., Canetti, E., Orr, R., & Pope, R. (2022b). Risk factors for injuries in female soldiers: A systematic review. BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation, 14(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13102-022-00443-z

- Siaki, L., Hasslen, S., Hoffecker, L., & Trego, L. L. (2021). Sleep health in U.S. military women: A scoping review of the literature, 2000–2019. Women's Health Issues, 31, S22–S32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2021.03.001</u>
- Trego, L. L., Iobst, S. E., Best, N., & Smith, D. (2021). A scoping review of breastfeeding in active duty US military women. *Women's Health Issues*, 31(S1), S93–S103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2021.06.007</u>
- Trego, L. L., & Wilson, C. (2021). A social ecological model for military women's health. Women's Health Issues, 31, S11–S21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2020.12.006</u>
- Trego, L., Rychnovsky, J., Wilson, C., Steele, N., & Consortium on the Health and Readiness of Servicewomen. (2015). A systematic review of the literature on military women's health, 2000-2010 (p. 172). Naval Health Research Center. <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA622646</u>
- VA Office of Inspector General (OIG). (2010). *Review of combat stress in women veterans receiving VA health care and disability benefits* (No. 10-01640–45; p. 81). Department of Veterans Affairs. <u>https://www.va.gov/oig/52/reports/2011/VAOIG-10-01640-45.pdf</u>
- Varilek, B. M., & Isaacson, M. J. (2021). Female veteran use of palliative and hospice care: A scoping review. *Military Medicine*, 186(11–12), 1100–1105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usab005</u>
- Varley-Campbell, J., Cooper, C., Wilkerson, D., Wardle, S., Greeves, J., & Lorenc, T. (2018). Sexspecific changes in physical performance following military training: A systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, 48(11), 2623–2640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-018-0983-4</u>
- Warner, R., Neuhaus, S., Avery, J., & Davies, M. (2019). Does current policy support reproductive health of Australian Defence Force veterans? A review of Australian Defence Force policy. 27(3), 10.
- Wentz, L., Liu, P.-Y., Haymes, E., & Ilich, J. Z. (2011). Females have a greater incidence of stress fractures than males in both military and athletic populations: A systemic review. *Military Medicine*, 176(4), 420–430. <u>https://doi.org/10.7205/milmed-d-10-00322</u>

- Wilson, C., Phillips, A. K., Iobst, S. E., Myers, E. R., Trego, L., Allard, R. J., & Landoll, R. (2021). A scoping review of unintended pregnancy in active duty United States military women. *Women's Health Issues*, 31, S66–S80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2020.11.006</u>
- Wooten, J. (2015). Gender integration into the military: A meta-analysis of Norway, Canada, Israel, and the United States [Doctoral dissertation]. University of New England. https://dune.une.edu/theses/33
- Yablonsky, A. M., Rychnovsky, J., Martin, R., Highfill-McRoy, R. M., & McAnany, J. (2017). *Military women's health: A scoping review and gap analysis, 2000 2015* (Scoping Review No. N15-015; p. 333). Naval Medical Research Center.
- Zinzow, H. M., Grubaugh, A. L., Monnier, J., Suffoletta-Maierle, S., & Frueh, B. C. (2007). Trauma among female veterans: A critical review. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse*, 8(4), 384–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838007307295</u>

## **Appendix D: Reference List of Adjacent Canadian Literature**

- Arbour, T. H. L. (2022). Report of the Independent External Comprehensive Review of the Department of National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces (p. 420) [External Review]. Borden Ladner Gervais.
- Biskupski-Mujanovic, S. (2022). The "lucky ones" and those that weren't: Sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces. *Canadian Foreign Policy Journal*, 28(2), 144–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/11926422.2022.2071955</u>
- Born, J., Frank, D. C., & Richer, D. I. (2021). Caring for Careers (C4C) access to health care (Scientific Report DRDC-RDDC-2021-R058; p. 114). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Breede, H. C., & Davis, K. (2020). Do you even pro bro? Persistent testing of warrior identity and the failure of cohesion. In R. C. Engen, H. C. Breede, & A. English (Eds.), *Why We Fight: New Approaches to the Human Dimension of Warfare* (pp. 116–138). McGill-Queen's University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1gm00bh</u>
- Breede, H. C., & Davis, K. D. (2021, May 28). Eliminate or calibrate? Reflecting and recasting the warrior identity in the Canadian military [Centre for International and Defence Policy, Queen's University]. *Contact Report*. <u>https://medium.com/centre-for-international-and-defence-policy/eliminate-or-calibrate-reflecting-and-recasting-the-warrior-identity-in-the-canadian-military-b9c5936302e
  </u>
- Bremner, N., Sorenson, J., & Budgell, G. (2017). Sexual misconduct: Socialization and risk factors literature review (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2017-C302; p. 126). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Brown, A., Millman, H., Easterbrook, B., Heber, A., Park, R., Lanius, R., Nazarov, A., Jetly, R., Stanley-Aikens, R., Sanderson, C., Hutchins, C., Darte, K., Hall, A. L., Brémault-Phillips, S., Smith-MacDonald, L., Doak, D., Oakley, T., Nicholson, A. A., Pichtikova, M., ... McKinnon, M. C. (2022). Working together to address sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 85–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0033</u>

- Brown, V. (2020). Locating feminist progress in professional military education. *Atlantis: Critical Studies* in Gender, Culture & Social Justice, 41(2), 26–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/1076198ar</u>
- Calitoiu, D., Ueno, R., & Boyd, P. (2022). Supervised and unsupervised machine learning methods applied for enrolling women in the Canadian Armed Forces: Identifying geographical areas with highest recruiting potential. *SN Computer Science*, *3*(3), 250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42979-022-01115-y</u>
- Callaghan, W. (2020). Missing the point: A critical reflection on Operation HONOUR and reactions to military sexual misconduct by veterans of the Canadian Armed Forces. *Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice*, 41(2), 72–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/1076201ar</u>
- Callaghan, W. (2021). Sex and gender: More than just demographic variables. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 37–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0027</u>
- Campbell, I. (2021). How emerging trends in historiography expose the Canadian Army's past discriminatory practices and provide hope for future change. *International Journal*, 76(3), 465–476. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00207020211050330">https://doi.org/10.1177/00207020211050330</a>
- Civilian Review and Complaints Commission for the RCMP. (2017). *Report into Workplace Harassment in the RCMP* (Review No. PS78-12/2017E-PDF; p. 46). Government of Canada.
- Daugherty, C. (2019). Fall 2017 Your Say Survey: Sexual Misconduct Response Centre results (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2019-L048; p. 29). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Daugherty, C. (2020). *Winter 2019 Your Say Survey: Sexual Misconduct Response Centre results* (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2020-L284; p. 34). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Daugherty, C., & Nelson, E. (2017). Fall 2016 Your Say Survey: Sexual Misconduct Response Centre results (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2018-L001; p. 18). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Daugherty, C., & Smith, C. (2019). Fall 2017 Your Say Survey: Operation HONOUR results (Canadian Armed Forces Strategic Response Team on Sexual Misconduct Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2019-L154; p. 32). Defence Research and Development Canada.

- Davis, K. D. (2022). Socio-cultural dynamics in gender and military contexts: Seeking and understanding change. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 66–74. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0088
- Davis, K. D., & Squires, E. C. (2019). Culture shift and sexual misconduct (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2019-L335; p. 26). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Deschamps, M. (2015). External review into sexual misconduct and sexual harassment in the Canadian Armed Forces [External Review]. External Review Authority. <u>http://www.forces.gc.ca/assets/FORCES\_Internet/docs/en/caf-community-support-services-harassment/era-final-report-(april-20-2015)-eng.pdf</u>
- Eichler, M. (2016). Learning from the Deschamps report: Why military and veteran researchers ought to pay attention to gender. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, *2*(1), 5–8. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.3394
- Eichler, M. (2020). Gender and the Canadian Armed Forces: Does change mean feminist progress? *Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice, 41*(2), 3–8. https://doi.org/10.7202/1076196ar
- Eichler, M. (2021a). Equity in military and veteran research: Why it is essential to integrate an intersectional sex and gender lens. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 143–149. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0016
- Eichler, M. (2021b). Seeing sex, gender, and intersectionality in military, veteran, and family health research. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(s1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.7.s1\_001
- Eichler, M., Gagnon, M.-C., & Lamothe, M. (2019). Sexual violence as a veteran issue: The struggles (and successes) of military sexual trauma survivors in Canada. In D. T. MacLeod & H. O. Leduc (Eds.), *Treated like a liability: Veterans running battles with the Government of Canada* (pp. 71–95). FriesenPress.

- Eichler, M., Spanner, L., Tam-Seto, L., & Smith-Evans, K. (2021). Literature review on "Military-tocivilian transition: The importance of GBA+ for the Canadian Armed Forces" (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2021-C132; p. 201). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Gouliquer, L., Poulin, C., Moore, A., & Longobardi, H. (2022). Pictures tell a story: Diversity and inclusion on the National CFMWS website. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(s1), 54–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0084</u>
- Hachey, K. K., Partington, Z., & Topping, Lc. C. (2020). Barriers to diversity and career progression: Perceptions of Royal Canadian Navy members (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2020-L040; p. 18). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Hadziomerovic, A., Baratta, P., Nishiok, M., & Budgell, G. (2017). Literature review: Sexual misconduct and (mis)understandings (experience of LGBTQ+ members) in military organizations (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2017-C299; p. 86). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Hapidou, E. G., Pham, E., Bartley, K., Anthonypillai, J., Altena, S., Patterson, L., & Zacharias, R. (2021).
  Chronic pain program management outcomes: Long-term follow-up for veterans and civilians. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(S2), 74–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-</u>2021-0054
- House of Commons Canada. (2017). *Report 5, Canadian Armed Forces recruitment and retention* (Report of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts 42nd Parliament, 1st Session; National Defence, of the Fall 2016 Reports of the Auditor General of Canada). Government of Canada.
- House of Commons Canada. (2021). *Eliminating sexual misconduct within the Canadian Armed Forces* (Report of the Standing Committee on the Status of Women 43rd Parliament, 2nd Session; p. 68). Government of Canada.
- Johnstone, R., & Momani, B. (2022). Gender Mainstreaming in the Canadian Armed Forces and the Department of National Defence: Lessons on the implementation of Gender-Based Analysis Plus (GBA+). Armed Forces & Society, 48(2), 247–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327X20956722</u>

- Kocum, L., Lee, H., & Beadman, K. (2017). Literature review: The bystander effect and sexual misconduct (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2017-C294; p. 162). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Kovitz, M. (2021). Sexual (mis)conduct in the Canadian forces. *Critical Military Studies*, 7(1), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/23337486.2018.1494883

Lamerson, C. D. (1989). The evolution of a mixed-gender Canadian Forces. Minerva, VII(3), 19.

- Lane, A. (2017). Special men: The gendered militarization of the Canadian Armed Forces. *International Journal*, 72(4), 463–483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0020702017741910</u>
- LeBlanc, M. (2021). Survey on sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Results from the Primary Reserve by class of service (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2021-L023; p. 23). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- LeBlanc, M., Pullman, L., & Wang, Z. (2018). Survey on sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Basic military qualification administration (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2018-L311;
  p. 22). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- LeBlanc, M., Pullman, L., & Wang, Z. (2019). Survey on sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Basic military officer qualification administration (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2019-L249; p. 19). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- LeBlanc, M., & Wang, Z. (2017a). Sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Results from the Primary Reserve (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2017-L022; p. 32). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- LeBlanc, M., & Wang, Z. (2017b). Sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Results from lesbian, gay and bi-sexual Regular Force and Primary Reserve members (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2017-L297); p. 11). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- LeBlanc, M., & Wang, Z. (2017c). Sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Results from the Primary Reserve by class of service (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2017-L345; p. 13). Defence Research and Development Canada.

- Lin, I. (2019). *Measuring and monitoring culture change* (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2019-C039; p.65). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Lin, I., Butler, A., & Budgell, G. (2017). Literature review—Sexual misconduct: Understanding impacts of culture (Contract Report DRDC-RDDC-2017-C239; p. 153). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Lyle, E., & Matheson, I. (2017). Gender bias in Canadian military leadership training. *Journal of Ethnographic & Qualitative Research*, *12*, 18–28.
- Mac Lean, M., Sweet, J., Mahar, A., Gould, S., & Hall, A. L. (2021). Health care access and use among male and female Canadian Armed Forces veterans (Health Brief Catalogue no. 82-003-X; Health Reports). Statistics Canada. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-</u> x/2021003/article/00002-eng.htm
- Manser, L. (2015). The needs of medically releasing Canadian Armed Forces personnel and their families – A literature review (p. 40). Military Family Services, Canadian Forces Morale and Welfare Services.
- Maxwell, A. (2020). Experiences of unwanted sexualized and discriminatory behaviours and sexual assault among students at Canadian military colleges, 2019. *Juristat: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics*, 4–38.
- McCuaig Edge, H. J. (2019). Suicidal ideation, depression, and mental health care use among Canadian Armed Forces recruits (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2019-L210; p. 11). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- McCuaig Edge, H. J., & Carlucci, S. (2021). Descriptive analysis of the Recruit Health Questionnaire: 2016-2018 cohort (Scientific Report DRDC-RDDC-2021-R096; p. 90). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- McCuaig Edge, H. J., Lee, J. E. C., & Dursun, S. (2022). Correlates of perceived military-to-civilian transition challenges by medical release: An analysis of the Canadian Armed Forces transition

and well-being survey. Military Behavioral Health, 10(1), 37-48.

https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2021.2007183

- Minister of National Defence Advisory Panel on Systemic Racism and Discrimination. (2022). *Minister* of National Defence advisory panel on systematic racism and discrimination: With a focus on anti-indigenous and anti-black racism, LGBTQ2+ prejudice, gender bias, and white supremacy (p. 108) [Final Report]. Department of National Defence.
- Misra, S., Major, A., Palmater, P., & Day, S. (2022). *The toxic culture of the RCMP: Misogyny, racism, and violence against women in Canada's national police force* (p. 56) [Report to Minister of Public Safety and Minister for Women and Gender Equality and Youth]. The Canadian Feminist Alliance for International Action (FAFIA).
- Moore, J., & Poulin, C. (2009). Partners of Canadian lesbian soldiers: Examining the military family social support system. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne*, *50*(2), 99.
- Mota, N., Sommer, J. L., Bolton, S.-L., Enns, M. W., El-Gabalawy, R., Sareen, J., MacLean, M. B., Hall, A. L., Sudom, K., Silins, S., Garber, B., & Afifi, T. O. (2022). Prevalence and correlates of military sexual trauma in service members and veterans: Results from the 2018 Canadian Armed Forces Members and Veterans Mental Health Follow-up Survey. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/07067437221125292
- Department of National Defence and Canadian Armed Forces Ombudsman (DND/CAF). (2022). *Employment Equity and Diversity in the Department of National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces Report* [Report to the Minister of National Defence]. Government of Canada. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/ombudsman-national-defence-forces/reports-news-</u> <u>statistics/investigative-reports/employment-equity-diversity/employment-equity-diversity-</u> report.html
- Nesdole, R., Wang, Z., & LeBlanc, M. (2018). Survey on sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces: Cadet organizations administration and training service (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2018-L306; p. 25). Defence Research and Development Canada.

Office of the Auditor General Canada. (2016). *Report 5—Canadian Armed Forces Recruitment and Retention—National Defence* (2016 Fall Reports of the Auditor General of Canada) [Audit No. 5]. Government of Canada. https://www.oag-

bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/parl oag 201611 05 e 41834.html

Office of the Auditor General Canada. (2017). *Report 6—Royal Military College of Canada—National Defence* (2017 Fall Reports of the Auditor General of Canada) [Independent Auditor's Report No. 6]. Government of Canada. <u>https://www.oag-</u>

bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/parl\_oag\_201711\_06\_e\_42671.html

Office of the Auditor General Canada. (2018). *Report 3—Administration of justice in the Canadian Armed Forces* (2018 Fall Reports of the Auditor General of Canada) [Independent Auditor's Report No. 3]. Government of Canada. <u>https://www.oag-</u>

bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/att\_e\_43049.html

Office of the Auditor General Canada. (2018b). *Report 5—Inappropriate sexual behaviour—Canadian Armed Forces* (2018 Fall Reports of the Auditor General of Canada) [Independent Auditor's Report No. 5]. Government of Canada. <u>http://www.oag-</u>

bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/parl\_oag\_201811\_05\_e\_43203.html#

- Office of the Veterans Ombudsman. (2018). *Meeting expectations: Timely and transparent decisions for Canada's ill and injured veterans* (p. 34). Government of Canada. https://publications.gc.ca/site/eng/9.859599/publication.html
- Peach, J. (2017). Op HONOUR efforts: Highlights from the Fall 2016 Your Say Survey (Director General Military Personnel and Research Analysis Scientific Brief DRDC-RDDC-2017-B008; p. 6).
   Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Poulin, C., & Gouliquer, L. (2012). Clandestine existences and secret research: Eliminating official discrimination in the Canadian military and going public in academia. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, *16*(1), 54–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10894160.2011.557643</u>

- Pullman, L., & LeBlanc, M. (2021). Sexual misconduct in occupational training at the Canadian Forces School of Military Engineering (CFSME) and the Canadian Forces School of Communications and Electronics (CFSCE) (Director General Military Personnel Research and Analysis Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2021-L049; p. 25). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Richardson, J. D., Thompson, A., King, L., Ketcheson, F., Shnaider, P., Armour, C., St. Cyr, K., Sareen, J., Elhai, J. D., & Zamorski, M. A. (2019). Comorbidity patterns of psychiatric conditions in Canadian Armed Forces personnel. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64(7), 501–510. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743718816057
- Rolland-Harris, E., Simkus, K., & Weeks, M. (2019). Burden of cancer mortality in the Canadian Armed Forces, 1976–2012: A retrospective cohort study. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 28(8), 1364–1369. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-19-0215
- Rose, S., Aiken, A. B., McColl, M. A., & Carew, A. (2013). Veterans' health in Canada: A scoping review of the literature. In *Beyond the Line: Military and Veteran Health Research* (pp. 153– 179).
- Royal Canadian Mounted Police Veteran Women's Council (RCMPVWC). (2014). *RCMP veteran women's council report: Addressing a crisis in leadership* (p. 14). Royal Canadian Mounted Police.
- Rubenfeld, S., & Russell, S. (2018). Impact of Operation HONOUR: Summary and analysis of the perspectives of senior non-commissioned members (Director General CSRT-SM Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2018-L273; p. 21). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Russell, S., & Rubenfeld, S. (2019). Bystander behaviour: Individual, organizational and social factors influencing bystander intervention of sexual misconduct (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2019-L172); p. 32). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Scoppio, G., & Otis, N. (2018). Looking at recruiting and selection for the Canadian military colleges through the lens of Gender-Based Analysis Plus. *Res Militaris*, 8(1), 1–16.

- Scott, R. L., Lasiuk, G. C., & Norris, C. M. (2016). Depression in lesbian, gay, and bisexual members of the Canadian Armed Forces. *LGBT Health*, 3(5), 366–372. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2016.0050
- Seaman, M. (2022). Gender inclusivity in the Canadian Armed Forces: The role of the Chief Petty Officer Second Class/Master Warrant Officer. *Canadian Military Journal*, 22(2), 9.
- Silins, S. (2019, August). Perceptions of support among CAF members affected by inappropriate sexual behaviour: Top-line findings. The Directorate of Professional Military Conduct – Operation HONOUR (DPMC-OpH), Ottawa, ON.
- Silins, S. (2020). *CAF members' perceptions of support following sexual misconduct incidents* (Director General Military Personnel Research and Analysis Scientific Brief DRDC-RDDC-2020-B037; p.
  8). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Silins, S., & Leblanc, M. (2020). Experiences of CAF members affected by sexual misconduct: Perceptions of support. Top-line findings (Directorate Professional Military Conduct - Operation HONOUR Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2020-L046; p. 18). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Silins, S., LeBlanc, M., Coulthard, J., Wang, Z., & Pullman, L. (2018). Sexual misconduct in Royal Canadian Air Force occupational training (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2018-L310; p. 22). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Silins, S., LeBlanc, M., & Wang, Z. (2018). Sexual misconduct in military personnel command occupational training (Scientific Letter DRCD-RDDC-2018-L014; p. 25). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- Simkus, K., Hall, A., Heber, A., & VanTil, L. (2019). 2019 Veteran Suicide Mortality Study: Follow-up period from 1976-2014. Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-vac/research/research-</u> directorate/publications/reports/Veteran-suicide-mortality-study-2019

- Simkus, K., & VanTil, L. (2018). 2018 Veteran Suicide Mortality Study: Identifying risk groups at release [Technical Report]. Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-vac/research/research-</u> directorate/publications/reports/Veteran-suicide-mortality-study2018
- Simkus, K., VanTil, L., & Pedlar, D. (2017). 2017 Veteran Suicide Mortality Study: 1976 to 2012. Research Directorate, Veterans Affairs Canada. <u>https://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/about-vac/research/research-directorate/publications/reports/vsms-2017</u>
- Stevenson, J. M., Bryant, J. T., Andrew, G. M., Smith, J. T., French, S. L., Thomson, J. M., & Deakin, J. M. (1992). Development of physical fitness standards for Canadian Armed Forces younger personnel. *Canadian Journal of Sport Sciences*, 17(3), 214–221.
- Taber, N. (2009a). Gender in children's books written for military families: The gendered portrayal of women and men, mothers and fathers in the Canadian military. *Journal of Integrated Social Sciences*, 1(1), 120–140.
- Taber, N. (2009b). The profession of arms: Ideological codes and dominant narratives of gender in the Canadian military. *Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice*, *34*(1), 27–36.
- Taber, N. (2015). *Gendered militarism in Canada: Learning conformity and resistance*. University of Alberta.
- Taber, N. (2018). After Deschamps: Men, masculinities, and the Canadian Armed Forces. Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health, 4(1), 100–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh.2017-0005</u>
- Taber, N. (2020). The Canadian Armed Forces: Battling between Operation HONOUR and Operation Hop on Her. *Critical Military Studies*, *6*(1), 19–40.

https://doi.org/10.1080/23337486.2017.1411117

- Tait, V. (2021). Regendering the Canadian Armed Forces. Atlantis: Critical Studies in Gender, Culture & Social Justice, 41(2), 9–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/1076197ar</u>
- The Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defence. (2013). *Conduct becoming: Why the Royal Canadian Mounted Police must transform its culture* [Final report of the Standing Senate

Committee on National Security and Defence]. Senate of Canada.

https://sencanada.ca/Content/SEN/Committee/411/secd/rep/rep14jun13-e.pdf

The Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defence. (2019). *Sexual harassment and violence in the Canadian Armed Forces* (p. 31) [Report of the Standing Committee on National Security and Defence]. Senate of Canada.

https://sencanada.ca/content/sen/committee/421/SECD/Reports/SECD\_Report\_harassment\_May\_ 19\_e.pdf

- Ueno, R. (2021). *Historical study of time in rank trend at time of promotion* (Scientific Letter DRDC-RDDC-2021-L217; p. 8). Defence Research and Development Canada.
- VanTil, L. D., Simkus, K., Rolland-Harris, E., & Heber, A. (2021). Identifying release-related precursors to suicide among Canadian veterans between 1976 and 2012. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 7(1), 13–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-2020-0011</u>
- Whitworth, S. (2005). Militarized masculinities and the politics of peacekeeping: The Canadian case. In
  K. Booth (Ed.), *Critical Security Studies in World Politics* (pp. 89–106). Lynne Rienner
  Publishers.
- Wright, J., & LeBlanc, M. (2017). Canadian Forces Workplace Harassment Survey (Scientific Report DRDC-RDDC-2017-R132; p. 58). Defence Research and Development Canada